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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended January 30, 2010

OR

¨ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from              to             

Commission File Number: 1-12302

BARNES & NOBLE, INC.
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)
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Delaware 06-1196501
(State or Other Jurisdiction of

Incorporation or Organization)

(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

122 Fifth Avenue, New York, NY 10011
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

(212) 633-3300

(Registrant�s Telephone Number, Including Area Code)

(Former Name, Former Address and Former Fiscal Year, if Changed Since Last Report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  x    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).    Yes  ¨    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of �large accelerated filer,� �accelerated filer� and �smaller reporting company� in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
(Check one):

Large accelerated filer x Accelerated filer ¨

Non-accelerated filer ¨  (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company ¨
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).    Yes  ¨    No  x

As of February 28, 2010, 57,558,325 shares of Common Stock, par value $.001 per share, were outstanding, which number includes 1,337,640
shares of unvested restricted stock that have voting rights and are held by members of the Board of Directors and the Company�s employees.
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1: Financial Statements
BARNES & NOBLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except per share data)

(unaudited)

13 weeks ended 39 weeks ended
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
Sales $ 2,174,542 1,631,616 4,491,118 3,965,922
Cost of sales and occupancy 1,558,871 1,108,899 3,177,403 2,732,683

Gross profit 615,671 522,717 1,313,715 1,233,239

Selling and administrative expenses 411,443 334,437 1,024,238 947,661
Depreciation and amortization 57,068 45,546 151,091 132,244
Pre-opening expenses 399 1,783 3,381 8,259

Operating profit 146,761 140,951 135,005 145,075
Interest expense, net and amortization of deferred financing fees 13,849 751 18,097 3,149

Income from continuing operations before taxes 132,912 140,200 116,908 141,926
Income taxes 52,523 55,235 48,212 55,965

Income from continuing operations (net of income tax) 80,389 84,965 68,696 85,961
Loss from discontinued operations (net of income tax) �  (4,020) �  (7,848) 

Net income 80,389 80,945 68,696 78,113
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 14 207 18 30

Net income attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. $ 80,403 81,152 68,714 78,143

Income attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc.
Income from continuing operations $ 80,389 84,965 68,696 85,961
Less loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 14 207 18 30

Income from continuing operations attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. $ 80,403 85,172 68,714 85,991

Basic earnings per common share
Income from continuing operations attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. $ 1.40 1.50 1.20 1.52
Loss from discontinued operations attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. �  (0.07) �  (0.14) 

Net income attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. $ 1.40 1.43 1.20 1.39
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Diluted earnings per common share
Income from continuing operations attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. $ 1.38 1.49 1.18 1.49
Loss from discontinued operations attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. �  (0.07) �  (0.14) 

Net income attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. $ 1.38 1.42 1.18 1.35

Weighted average common shares outstanding
Basic 55,365 54,602 55,260 54,404
Diluted 56,003 54,964 56,074 55,526

Dividends declared per common share $ 0.25 0.25 0.75 0.75
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BARNES & NOBLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except per share data)

January 30,
2010

January 31,
2009

May 2,
2009

(unaudited) (audited) (unaudited)
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 40,178 281,608 86,594
Receivables, net 246,592 80,998 70,721
Merchandise inventories 1,518,414 1,203,471 1,233,756
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 90,554 121,102 121,563
Current assets of discontinued operations �  30,199 �  

Total current assets 1,895,738 1,717,378 1,512,634

Property and equipment:
Land and land improvements 8,617 9,298 9,298
Buildings and leasehold improvements 1,202,702 1,096,801 1,102,439
Fixtures and equipment 1,584,456 1,385,454 1,331,524

2,795,775 2,491,553 2,443,261
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 1,977,781 1,670,839 1,642,517

Net property and equipment 817,994 820,714 800,744

Goodwill 522,702 240,008 254,842
Intangible assets, net 584,713 83,443 82,691
Other noncurrent assets 65,094 8,000 13,368
Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations �  8,321 �  

Total assets $ 3,886,241 2,877,864 2,664,279

(Continued)
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BARNES & NOBLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except per share data)

January 30,
2010

January 31,
2009

May 2,
2009

(unaudited) (audited) (unaudited)
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS� EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 1,184,915 746,599 698,315
Accrued liabilities 859,169 704,343 587,454
Short-term note payable 100,000 �  �  
Current liabilities of discontinued operations �  18,807 �  

Total current liabilities 2,144,084 1,469,749 1,285,769

Deferred taxes 274,728 79,170 79,369
Other long-term liabilities 516,914 393,006 387,318
Noncurrent liabilities of discontinued operations �  12,713 �  

Shareholders� equity:
Common stock; $.001 par value; 300,000 shares authorized; 88,631, 87,681 and 88,225 shares
issued, respectively 89 88 88
Additional paid-in capital 1,284,189 1,262,358 1,274,454
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (12,015) (14,503) (12,015) 
Retained earnings 727,516 721,200 697,042
Treasury stock, at cost, 33,215, 33,066 and 33,148 shares, respectively (1,050,828) (1,047,529) (1,049,328) 

Total Barnes & Noble, Inc. shareholders� equity 948,951 921,614 910,241

Noncontrolling interest 1,564 1,612 1,582

Total shareholders� equity 950,515 923,226 911,823

Commitments and contingencies �  �  �  

Total liabilities and shareholders� equity $ 3,886,241 2,877,864 2,664,279

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BARNES & NOBLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders� Equity

For the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010

(In thousands)

(unaudited)

Barnes & Noble, Inc. Shareholders� Equity

Noncontrolling
Interest

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Losses

Retained
Earnings

Treasury
Stock at

Cost Total

Balance at May 2, 2009 $ 1,582 88 1,274,454 (12,015) 697,042 (1,049,328) $ 911,823

Comprehensive income:
Net income (loss) (18) �  �  �  68,714 �  

Total comprehensive income 68,696

Exercise of 202 common stock options �  1 2,944 �  �  �  2,945
Stock options and restricted stock tax
benefits �  �  (271) �  �  �  (271) 
Stock-based compensation expense �  �  11,829 �  �  �  11,829
Sale of Calendar Club (See Note 9) �  �  (4,767) �  4,767 �  �  
Cash dividend paid to stockholders �  �  �  �  (43,007) �  (43,007) 
Treasury stock acquired, 67 shares �  �  �  �  �  (1,500) (1,500) 

Balance at January 30, 2010 $ 1,564 89 1,284,189 (12,015) 727,516 (1,050,828) $ 950,515

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BARNES & NOBLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009

(Thousands of dollars)

(unaudited)

39 weeks ended
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 68,696 78,113
Net loss from discontinued operations �  (7,848) 

Net income from continuing operations 68,696 85,961
Adjustments to reconcile net income from continuing operations to net cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization (including amortization of deferred financing fees) 155,406 132,635
Stock-based compensation expense 11,829 15,677
Property and equipment impairment charge 11,083 11,715
Deferred taxes 2,045 (1,086) 
Loss (gain) on disposal of property and equipment (21) 3,306
Increase (decrease) in other long-term liabilities (25,552) 141
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net 67,908 292,395

Net cash flows from operating activities 291,394 540,744

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of Barnes & Noble College Booksellers, Inc. (net of cash acquired) (178,982) �  
Purchases of property and equipment (77,392) (153,874) 
Acquisition of assets of Tikatok Inc. (net of cash acquired) (2,261) �  
Net increase in other noncurrent assets (1,603) (1,152) 

Net cash flows from investing activities (260,238) (155,026) 

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net increase (decrease) in credit facility �  (86,700) 
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options 2,945 6,826
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation 1,059 429
Purchase of treasury stock (1,500) (1,732) 
Cash dividend paid to shareholders (43,007) (42,281) 
Financing fees paid related to debt used to acquire Barnes & Noble College Booksellers, Inc. (37,069) �  

Net cash flows from financing activities (77,572) (123,458) 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (46,416) 262,260

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 86,594 19,348
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Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 40,178 281,608

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net:
Receivables, net $ (19,317) 4,317
Merchandise inventories 80,519 152,871
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 40,523 3,444
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (33,817) 131,763

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net $ 67,908 292,395

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid (received) during the period for:
Interest paid $ 10,326 2,922
Income taxes (net of refunds) $ 2,526 (1,265) 

Supplemental disclosure of subsidiaries acquired:
Assets acquired (net of cash acquired) $ 1,409,188 �  
Liabilities assumed (including Seller Notes, see Note 2) 1,227,945 �  

Cash paid $ 181,243 �  
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BARNES & NOBLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the 13 and 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009

(Thousands of dollars, except per share data)

(unaudited)

The unaudited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Barnes & Noble, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the Company).

In the opinion of the Company�s management, the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Company contain all
adjustments (consisting of only normal recurring adjustments) necessary to present fairly its consolidated financial position as of January 30,
2010 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 13 and 39 weeks then ended. These consolidated financial statements are
condensed and therefore do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles. The
consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 52 weeks ended
January 31, 2009 (fiscal 2008) as well as the Form 8-K/A the Company filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the
SEC) on December 9, 2009 in connection with the Company�s acquisition of Barnes & Noble College Booksellers, Inc. (B&N College). The
Company follows the same accounting policies in preparation of interim reports, except as set out in Note 6, Revenue Recognition, Note 11,
Earnings per Share, and Note 12, Noncontrolling Interest.

On September 29, 2009, the Board of Directors of Barnes & Noble, Inc. authorized a change in the Company�s fiscal year end from the Saturday
closest to the last day of January to the Saturday closest to the last day of April. The change in fiscal year, which became effective on
September 30, 2009 upon the closing of the acquisition of B&N College by Barnes & Noble, Inc. (the Acquisition), gives the Company and
B&N College the same fiscal year (see Note 2). The change was intended to better align the Company�s fiscal year with the business cycles of
both Barnes & Noble, Inc. and B&N College. As a result of the change in fiscal year, the Company�s 2010 fiscal year began on May 3, 2009 and
will end on May 1, 2010 (fiscal 2010).

As a result of the change in fiscal year, the Company filed a transition report on Form 10-Q with the SEC on November 9, 2009, covering the
transition period from February 1, 2009 to May 2, 2009.

The Company performed an evaluation on the effect of the Acquisition on the identification of operating segments, considering the way the
business is managed (focusing on the financial information distributed) and the manner in which the chief operating decision maker interacts
with other members of management. As a result of this assessment, the Company has determined that it now has two operating segments: B&N
Retail and B&N College.

Due to the seasonal nature of the business, the results of operations for the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 are not indicative of the results to
be expected for the 52 weeks ending May 1, 2010 (fiscal 2010).

(1) Credit Facility

On September 30, 2009, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the Credit Agreement) with Bank of America, N.A., as administrative
agent, collateral agent and swing line lender, and other lenders, under which the lenders committed to provide up to $1,000,000 in
commitments under a four-year asset-backed revolving credit facility (the Credit Facility) and which is secured by eligible inventory and
accounts receivable and related assets. Borrowings under the Credit Agreement are limited to a specified percentage of eligible inventories and
accounts receivable and accrue interest, at the election of the Company, at Base Rate or LIBO Rate, plus, in each case, an Applicable Margin
(each term as defined in the Credit Agreement). In addition, the Company has the

8
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BARNES & NOBLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements�(Continued)

For the 13 and 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009

(Thousands of dollars, except per share data)

(unaudited)

option to request the increase in commitments under the Credit Agreement by up to $300,000, subject to certain restrictions.

The Credit Agreement includes a fixed charge coverage ratio requirement which would be triggered if Availability (as defined in the Credit
Agreement) were to fall below (a) the greater of (i) 15% of the Loan Cap (as defined in the Credit Agreement) or (ii) $110,000. In addition, the
Credit Facility contains covenants that limit, among other things, the Company�s ability to incur indebtedness, create liens, make investments,
make restricted payments, merge or acquire assets, and contains default provisions that are typical for this type of financing, among other things.

The Company paid $37,069 for advisory and arrangement fees related to the Credit Facility, which are being amortized over the four-year life of
the Credit Facility.

The Credit Facility replaces the Company�s prior $850,000 credit agreement which had a maturity date of July 31, 2011, as well as B&N
College�s $400,000 credit agreement which had a maturity date of November 13, 2011. The remaining unamortized deferred costs of $807
relating to the Company�s prior credit facility were deferred and are being amortized over the four-year term of the Credit Facility.

(2) Acquisition of B&N College

On September 30, 2009, the Company completed the Acquisition of B&N College from Leonard Riggio and Louise Riggio (Sellers) pursuant a
Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of August 7, 2009 among the Company and the Sellers (Purchase Agreement). Mr. Riggio is the Chairman
of the Company�s Board of Directors and a significant stockholder. As part of the transaction, the Company acquired the Barnes & Noble trade
name that had been owned by B&N College and licensed to the Company.

As a result of the Acquisition, the Company expects to capitalize on the revenue stream derived from the sale of textbooks and course-related
materials, emblematic apparel and gifts, trade books, school and dorm supplies, and convenience and café items. Combining both businesses
under a unified brand will enable the Company to benefit from the growing online college textbook and eBook markets.

On September 30, 2009, in connection with the closing of the Acquisition described above, the Company issued the Sellers (i) a senior
subordinated note in the principal amount of $100,000, payable in full on December 15, 2010, with interest of 8% per annum payable on the
unpaid principal amount (the Senior Seller Note), and (ii) a junior subordinated note in the principal amount of $150,000, payable in full on the
fifth anniversary of the closing of the Acquisition, with interest of 10% per annum payable on the unpaid principal amount (the Junior Seller
Note; and together with the Senior Seller Note, the Seller Notes). On December 22, 2009, the Company consented to the pledge and assignment
of the Senior Seller Note by the Sellers as collateral security.

The purchase price paid to the Sellers under the Purchase Agreement was $596,000, consisting of $346,000 in cash and $250,000 in Seller
Notes. However, pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement, the cash paid to the Sellers was reduced by $82,352 in cash bonuses paid by
B&N College to 192 members of its

9
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BARNES & NOBLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements�(Continued)

For the 13 and 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009

(Thousands of dollars, except per share data)

(unaudited)

management team and employees, not including Leonard Riggio. The Company financed the Acquisition through $250,000 of seller financing,
$150,000 from the Credit Facility and the remainder from both the Company�s and B&N College�s cash on hand.

The Acquisition was accounted for as a business purchase pursuant to Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 805, Business Combinations
(ASC 805). Acquisition-related expenses totaled $10,400 and have been recorded as selling and administrative expenses in the Company�s
consolidated statement of operations for the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010. As required by ASC 805-20, the Company allocated the purchase
price to assets and liabilities based on their estimated fair value at the acquisition date. The following table represents the allocation of the
purchase price to the acquired net assets and resulting adjustment to goodwill:

Cash Paid $ 263,648
Seller Notes 250,000

Fair value of total consideration $ 513,648

Allocation of purchase price:
Current assets $ 609,786
Non-current assets 114,683
Trade name 245,000
Customer relationships 255,000
Goodwill 267,124

Total assets acquired $ 1,491,593
Deferred taxes 227,685
Liabilities assumed 750,260

$ 513,648

Acquired intangible assets consisted primarily of the trade name and customer relationships.

Trade Name

The Company previously licensed the �Barnes & Noble� trade name from B&N College under certain agreements. The Acquisition gave the
Company exclusive ownership of its trade name. The estimated fair value ascribed to the trade name of $245,000 represents solely the estimated
incremental value acquired as part of the Acquisition, which is not representative of the value of the �Barnes & Noble� trade name taken as a
whole. The trade name has been classified as an indefinite life intangible asset.

Customer Relationships

The estimated fair value of customer relationships of B&N College is $255,000. Customers are comprised of existing college and university
contractual relationships at the date of the Acquisition.
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BARNES & NOBLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements�(Continued)

For the 13 and 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009

(Thousands of dollars, except per share data)

(unaudited)

Amortization of Fair Value Ascribed to Customer Relationships

Historical customer attrition rates imply a life of 50 years; however the useful life was shortened to 25 years since the majority of the value of
discounted cash flows are captured in this period. The $255,000 will be amortized evenly over the 25-year period. The Company recorded
$2,550 and $3,400 in amortization during the 13 and 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010, respectively, related to these intangibles.

The Company also recorded a short-term deferred tax liability of $24,534 and a long-term deferred tax liability of $203,151 related to the
difference between the book basis and the tax basis of the net assets acquired. In addition, the Company stepped up the value of other assets and
liabilities, resulting in goodwill of $265,933, which is not deductible for income tax purposes.

The following unaudited condensed financial information of B&N College since the date of the Acquisition of September 30, 2009 was included
in the Company�s consolidated results of operations for the 13 and 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010:

13 weeks ended
January 30, 2010

39 weeks ended
January 30, 2010

Sales $ 565,955 $ 631,209
Net income $ 21,105 $ 14,879

11
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BARNES & NOBLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements�(Continued)

For the 13 and 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009

(Thousands of dollars, except per share data)

(unaudited)

The following unaudited pro forma condensed financial information assumes that the Acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition
method of accounting for business combinations in accordance with ASC 805 and represents a pro forma presentation based upon available
information of the combining companies giving effect to the Acquisition as if it had occurred on May 4, 2008, the first date of B&N College�s
prior fiscal year, with adjustments for amortization expense of intangible assets, depreciation expense for the fair value of property and
equipment above its book value, termination or changes in certain compensation arrangements, termination of textbook royalties, non-operating
expenses not acquired in the Acquisition, interest expense and income tax expense:

13 weeks ended 39 weeks ended
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
Sales $ 2,174,542 $ 2,190,580 $ 5,467,216 $ 5,553,681

Net income from continuing operations attributable to Barnes &
Noble, Inc. $ 80,403 $ 101,743 $ 85,606 $ 123,186

Income from continuing operations attributable to Barnes & Noble,
Inc. per common share
Basic $ 1.40 $ 1.79 $ 1.49 $ 2.18
Diluted $ 1.38 $ 1.78 $ 1.47 $ 2.14

The unaudited pro forma condensed financial information is based on the assumptions and adjustments which give effect to events that are:
(i) directly attributable to the Acquisition; (ii) expected to have a continuing impact; and (iii) factually supportable. The unaudited pro forma
condensed financial information is presented for informational purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the operating results that would
have been achieved had the Acquisition been consummated as of the dates indicated or of the results that may be obtained in the future.

In accordance with ASC 280, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, the Company performed an evaluation on
the effect of the Acquisition on the identification of operating segments, considering the way the business is managed (focusing on the financial
information distributed) and the manner in which the chief operating decision maker interacts with other members of management. As a result of
this assessment, the Company has determined that it now has two operating segments: B&N Retail and B&N College. See Note 16 for more
detail on segment information.

12
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BARNES & NOBLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements�(Continued)

For the 13 and 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009

(Thousands of dollars, except per share data)

(unaudited)

(3) Tikatok Acquisition

On September 24, 2009, the Company acquired the net assets of Tikatok Inc. (Tikatok) for $2,305 in cash. Tikatok is an online platform where
parents and their children and others can write, illustrate, and publish stories into hardcover and paperback books. On its website, Tikatok makes
available, among other things, its patent-pending StorySparks� system, which helps to walk children through the process of creating and writing
stories and expands the Company�s reach to additional parents, educators and librarians. In addition to the closing purchase price, the Company
has made and may make bonus and/or earn out payments if certain performance targets are met over the next four years.

The Tikatok acquisition was accounted for as a business purchase pursuant to ASC 805. In accordance with ASC 805-20, the purchase price has
been allocated to assets based on their estimated fair value at the acquisition date. The following table represents the allocation of the purchase
price to the acquired net assets and resulting adjustment to goodwill:

Cash Paid $ 2,305

Allocation of purchase price:
Current assets $ 46
Trade name 70
Technology 240
Non-current assets 2
Goodwill 1,947

Total assets acquired $ 2,305
Liabilities assumed �  

$ 2,305

Acquired intangible assets consisted of the trade name and technology. The trade name is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 3 years.
Acquired technology is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 5 years. The goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for income
tax purposes.

The results of operations for the period subsequent to the Tikatok acquisition are included in the consolidated financial statements. The pro
forma effect assuming the acquisition of Tikatok at the beginning of fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2009 is not material.

(4) Merchandise Inventories

Merchandise inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined primarily by the retail inventory method under both the
first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis and the last-in, first-out (LIFO) basis. The Company uses the retail inventory method for 98% of the Company�s
merchandise inventories. As of January 30,
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2010, January 31, 2009 and May 2, 2009, 76%, 100% and 100%, respectively, of the Company�s inventory on the retail inventory method was
valued under the FIFO basis. B&N College�s textbook and trade book inventories are valued using the LIFO method, where the related reserve
was not material to the recorded amount of the Company�s inventories or results of operations.

Market is determined based on the estimated net realizable value, which is generally the selling price. Reserves for non-returnable inventory are
based on the Company�s history of liquidating non-returnable inventory.

The Company also estimates and accrues shortage for the period between the last physical count of inventory and the balance sheet date.
Shortage rates are estimated and accrued based on historical rates and can be affected by changes in merchandise mix and changes in actual
shortage trends.

(5) Reclassifications

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.

(6) Revenue Recognition

Revenue from sales of the Company�s products is recognized at the time of sale, other than those with multiple elements. The Company accrues
for estimated sales returns in the period in which the related revenue is recognized based on historical experience and industry standards. Sales
taxes collected from retail customers are excluded from reported revenues.

In accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Updates (ASU) 2009-13 and ASU 2009-14 (see
Note 19), for multiple-element arrangements that involve tangible products that contain software that is essential to the tangible product�s
functionality, undelivered software elements that relate to the tangible product�s essential software and other separable elements, the Company
allocates revenue to all deliverables using the relative selling-price method. Under this method, revenue is allocated at the time of sale to all
deliverables based on their relative selling price using a specific hierarchy. The hierarchy is as follows: vendor-specific objective evidence,
third-party evidence of selling price, or best estimate of selling price.

The Company includes post-service customer support (PCS) in the form of software updates and potential increased functionality on a
when-and-if-available basis, as well as AT&T wireless access and wireless connectivity with the purchase of nook� from the Company. Using the
relative selling price described above, the Company allocates revenue based on the best estimate of selling price for the deliverables as no
vendor-specific objective evidence or third-party evidence exists for any of the elements. Revenue allocated to nook� and the software essential to
its functionality is recognized at the time of sale, provided all other conditions for revenue recognition are met. Revenue allocated to the PCS
and the AT&T wireless access is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the 2-year estimated life of nook�. All product cost of sales
is recognized at the time of sale.
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The Company records revenue from sales of third-party extended warranties, service contracts and other products, for which the Company is not
obligated to perform, and for which the Company does not meet the criteria for gross revenue recognition under ASC 605-45-45, Reporting
Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent, on a net basis. All other revenue is recognized on a gross basis.

(7) Income Taxes

As of January 30, 2010, the Company had $25,590 of gross unrecognized tax benefits, all of which, if recognized, would affect the Company�s
effective tax rate. The Company�s continuing practice is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.
The Company had $7,816 accrued for interest and penalties, which is included in the $25,590 of unrecognized tax benefits noted above.

The Company is subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as income tax in jurisdictions of each state having an income tax. The tax years that
remain subject to examination are primarily 2004 through 2009. Some earlier years remain open for a small minority of states.

(8) Acquisition of Fictionwise

On March 4, 2009, the Company acquired Fictionwise, Inc. (Fictionwise), a leader in the eBook marketplace, for $15,729 in cash. In addition to
the closing purchase price, the Company has made and may make earn-out payments contingent upon the achievement of certain performance
and technology related targets through 2011. The acquisition provided a core component to the Company�s overall digital strategy, enabling the
launch of one of the world�s largest eBookstores on July 20, 2009. The eBookstore on Barnes & Noble.com enables customers to buy eBooks and
read them on a wide range of platforms, including nook �, the Company�s eBook reader, iPhone® and iPod touch®, BlackBerry® smartphones, as
well as most Windows® and Mac® laptops or full-sized desktop computers.
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The Fictionwise acquisition was accounted for as a business purchase pursuant to ASC 805, Business Combinations. In accordance with ASC
805-20, the purchase price has been allocated to assets and liabilities based on their estimated fair value at the acquisition date. The fair value of
the contingent consideration at the Fictionwise acquisition date is included in the purchase price shown below. Changes to the fair value of the
contingent consideration will be recorded in selling and administrative expenses. There was no material change in the fair value of contingent
consideration at January 30, 2010 compared to the fair value estimated at October 31, 2009. The following table represents the allocation of the
purchase price to the acquired net assets and resulting adjustment to goodwill:

Cash Paid $ 15,729
Fair value of contingent consideration 8,165

Fair value of total consideration $ 23,894

Allocation of purchase price:
Cash $ 255
Trade Name 340
Customer Relationships 2,410
Technology 5,610
Goodwill 18,051

Total assets acquired $ 26,666
Liabilities assumed (2,772) 

$ 23,894

The fair value of the contingent consideration arrangement of $8,165 was determined by estimating the expected (probability � weighted)
earn-out payments discounted to present value.

Due to the purchase price allocation not being finalized at the time of the Fictionwise acquisition, the excess purchase price over net assets
acquired of $15,941 had been allocated to goodwill. Final purchase accounting adjustments to goodwill of $2,110 were recorded during the 39
weeks ended January 30, 2010. The goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

Acquired intangible assets consisted of the trade name, technology and customer relationships. The trade name is being amortized on a
straight-line basis over 3 years. Acquired technology is being amortized on a straight-line basis over a range of 5 to 10 years. Customer
relationships are being amortized using an accelerated method over their 5-year useful life. The Company recorded $568 and $1,811 in
amortization during the 13 and 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010, respectively, related to these intangibles.

The Fictionwise results of operations for the period subsequent to the Fictionwise acquisition date are included in the consolidated financial
statements. The pro forma effect assuming the acquisition of Fictionwise at the beginning of the fiscal year and prior fiscal year is not material.
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(9) Discontinued Operations

During the 13 weeks ended January 31, 2009, the Company committed to a plan to dispose of its approximate 74% interest in Calendar Club.
The Company subsequently sold its interest in Calendar Club on February 25, 2009 to Calendar Club and its chief executive officer for $7,000,
which was comprised of $1,000 in cash and $6,000 in notes. Calendar Club qualified for held for sale accounting treatment in fiscal 2008 and
was written down to its fair value. The Company recorded a charge of $18,655 ($9,675 after tax) related to the write-down in fiscal 2008.
Calendar Club is no longer a subsidiary of the Company and the results of Calendar Club have been classified as discontinued operations in the
13 and 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009.

(10) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company maintains three share-based incentive plans: the 1996 Incentive Plan, the 2004 Incentive Plan and the 2009 Incentive Plan. Prior
to June 2, 2009, the Company issued restricted stock and stock options under the 1996 and 2004 Incentive Plans. On June 2, 2009, the
Company�s shareholders approved the 2009 Incentive Plan. The maximum number of shares issuable under the 2009 Incentive Plan is 950,000,
plus shares that remain available under the Company�s shareholder-approved 2004 Incentive Plan. At January 30, 2010, there were
approximately 3,020,883 shares of common stock available for future grants under the 2009 Incentive Plan.

A restricted stock award is an award of common shares that is subject to certain restrictions during a specified period. Restricted stock awards
are independent of option grants and are generally subject to forfeiture if employment terminates prior to the release of the restrictions. The
grantee cannot transfer the shares before the restricted shares vest. Shares of unvested restricted stock have the same voting rights as common
stock, are entitled to receive dividends and other distributions thereon and are considered to be currently issued and outstanding. The Company�s
restricted stock awards vest over a period of one to five years. The Company expenses the cost of the restricted stock awards, which is
determined to be the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant, straight-line over the period during which the restrictions lapse. For
these purposes, the fair market value of the restricted stock is determined based on the closing price of the Company�s common stock on the grant
date.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to value the Company�s stock options for each stock option award. Using this
option-pricing model, the fair value of each stock option award is estimated on the date of grant. The fair value of the Company�s stock option
awards, which are generally subject to pro-rata vesting annually over four years, is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of
the stock options. The expected volatility assumption is based on traded options volatility of the Company�s stock over a term equal to the
expected term of the option granted. The expected term of stock option awards granted is derived from historical exercise experience under the
Company�s stock option plans and represents the period of time that stock option awards granted are expected to be outstanding. The expected
term assumption incorporates the contractual term of an option grant, which is ten years, as well as the vesting period of an award, which is
generally pro-rata vesting annually over four years. The risk-free interest rate is based on the implied yield on a U.S. Treasury constant maturity
with a remaining term equal to the expected term of the option granted.
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The weighted average assumptions relating to the valuation of the Company�s stock options for the 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009 are shown
below. No options were granted for the 13 weeks ended January 31, 2009, or for the 13 and 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010.

39 weeks ended
January 31, 2009

Weighted average fair value of grants $ 5.03
Expected volatility 68.37% 
Expected risk-free interest rate 1.06% 
Expected life 0.55 years
Expected dividend yield 4.09% 

Stock-Based Compensation Activity

The following table presents a summary of the Company�s stock options activity for the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010:

Number of Shares
(in thousands)

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Balance, May 2, 2009 5,561 $ 20.14
Granted �  �  
Exercised (202) 14.58
Forfeited (219) 32.19

Balance, January 30, 2010 5,140 19.85

Exercisable at January 30, 2010 5,140 $ 19.85
As of January 30, 2010, the Company has recognized all of the compensation expense related to stock options granted under the Company�s
share-based compensation plans.

The following table presents a summary of the Company�s restricted stock activity for the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010:

Number of Shares
(in thousands)

Weighted Average
Grant Date

Fair
Value

Balance, May 2, 2009 1,235 $ 30.86
Granted 413 21.57
Vested (197) 32.07
Forfeited (68) 29.87
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As of January 30, 2010, there was $28,336 of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested restricted stock awards. That
cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.36 years.

For the 13 and 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009, the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense as follows:

13 weeks ended 39 weeks ended
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
Selling and administrative expenses $ 4,015 4,526 11,829 15,677

(11) Earnings per Share

In accordance with ASC 260-10-45, Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating
Securities, the Company�s unvested restricted shares and shares issuable under the Company�s deferred compensation plan are considered
participating securities. During periods of net income, the calculation of earnings per share for common stock are reclassified to exclude the
income attributable to the unvested restricted shares and shares issuable under the Company�s deferred compensation plan from the numerator
and exclude the dilutive impact of those shares from the denominator. During periods of net loss, no effect is given to the participating securities
because they do not share in the losses of the Company. The Company has retroactively applied the provisions of ASC 260-10-45 to the
financial information included for the 13 and 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009.
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The following is a reconciliation of the Company�s basic and diluted earnings per share calculation:

13 weeks ended 39 weeks ended
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
Numerator for basic earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. $ 80,403 85,172 68,714 85,991
Less allocation of earnings and dividends to participating securities (2,932) (3,206) (2,399) (3,042) 

Net income from continuing operations available to common shareholders 77,471 81,966 66,315 82,949
Less loss from discontinued operations, net of allocation of earnings and
dividends to participating securities �  (3,847) �  (7,508) 

Net income available to common shareholders $ 77,471 78,119 66,315 75,441

Numerator for diluted earnings per share:
Net income from continuing operations available to common shareholders $ 77,471 81,966 66,315 82,949
Effect of dilutive options 27 17 13 31

Net income from continuing operations available to common shareholders 77,498 81,983 66,328 82,980
Less loss from discontinued operations �  (4,020) �  (7,848) 

Net income available to common shareholders $ 77,498 77,963 66,328 75,132

Denominator for basic and diluted earnings per share:
Basic weighted average common shares 55,365 54,602 55,260 54,404
Average dilutive options 638 362 814 1,122

Diluted weighted average common shares 56,003 54,964 56,074 55,526

Basic earnings per common share
Income from continuing operations attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. $ 1.40 1.50 1.20 1.52
Loss from discontinued operations attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. �  (0.07) �  (0.14) 

Net income attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. $ 1.40 1.43 1.20 1.39

Diluted earnings per common share
Income from continuing operations attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. $ 1.38 1.49 1.18 1.49
Loss from discontinued operations attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. �  (0.07) �  (0.14) 

Net income attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. $ 1.38 1.42 1.18 1.35
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(12) Noncontrolling Interest

In accordance with ASC 810-10-45, Noncontrolling Interest in Consolidated Financial Statements, an amendment of ARB No. 5, the Company
classifies noncontrolling interests as a component of equity within the consolidated balance sheets. The Company has retroactively applied the
provisions in ASC 810-10-45 to the financial information presented for the 13 and 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009. As of January 30, 2010
and January 31, 2009, noncontrolling interests of $1,564 and $1,612, respectively, have been classified as a component of equity in the
consolidated balance sheet and relate to the 50% outside interest in Begin Smart LLC. For the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010 and January 31,
2009, a net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests of $14 and $207, respectively, is included in the Company�s net income. For the 39 weeks
ended January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009, a net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests of $18 and $30, respectively, is included in the
Company�s net income.

(13) Changes in Intangible Assets and Goodwill

As of January 30, 2010
Useful
Life

Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Total

Amortizable intangible assets
Customer relationships 5-25 $ 257,410 $ (4,444) $ 252,966
Author contracts 10 18,461 (12,896) 5,565
Technology 5-10 5,850 (661) 5,189
Distribution contracts 10 8,325 (3,520) 4,805
Other 3-10 4,514 (3,221) 1,293

$ 294,560 $ (24,742) $ 269,818

Unamortizable intangible assets
Trade name $ 293,400
Copyrights 159
Publishing contracts 21,336

$ 314,895
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All amortizable intangible assets are being amortized over their useful life on a straight-line basis, except for the customer relationships related
to the Fictionwise acquisition that are being amortized on an accelerated basis.

Aggregate Amortization Expense:
For the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 $ 7,587

Estimated Amortization Expense:
(12 months ending on or about April 30)
2010 $ 11,037
2011 $ 14,453
2012 $ 14,073
2013 $ 13,757
2014 $ 13,109

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment for the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 are as follows:

B&N Retail
Segment

B&N
College
Segment Total Company

Balance as of May 2, 2009 $ 254,842 $ �  $ 254,842
B&N College acquisition (See Note 2) �  267,124 267,124
Fictionwise purchase accounting adjustments (See Note 8) 2,110 �  2,110
Tikatok acquisition (See Note 3) 1,947 �  1,947
Benefit of excess tax amortization (a) (3,321) �  (3,321) 

Balance as of January 30, 2010 $ 255,578 $ 267,124 $ 522,702

(a) The tax basis of goodwill arising from an acquisition during the 52 weeks ended January 29, 2005 exceeded the related basis for financial
reporting purposes by approximately $96,576. In accordance with ASC 740-10-30, Accounting for Income Taxes, the Company is
recognizing the tax benefits of amortizing such excess as a reduction of goodwill as it is realized on the Company�s income tax return.

(14) Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

As of December 31, 1999, substantially all employees of the Company were covered under a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the
Pension Plan). As of January 1, 2000, the Pension Plan was amended so that employees no longer earn benefits for subsequent service. Effective
December 31, 2004, the barnesandnoble.com llc (Barnes & Noble.com) Employees� Retirement Plan (the B&N.com Retirement Plan) was
merged with the Pension Plan. Substantially all employees of Barnes & Noble.com were covered under the B&N.com Retirement Plan. As of
July 1, 2000, the B&N.com Retirement Plan was amended so that employees no longer earn benefits for subsequent service. Subsequent service
continues to be the basis for vesting of
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benefits not yet vested at December 31, 1999 and June 30, 2000 for the Pension Plan and the B&N.com Retirement Plan, respectively, and the
Pension Plan will continue to hold assets and pay benefits. The actuarial assumptions used to calculate pension costs are reviewed annually.
Pension expense for the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009 was $774 and $310, respectively. Pension expense for the 39
weeks ended January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009 was $2,357 and $871, respectively.

The Company provides certain health care and life insurance benefits (the Postretirement Plan) to certain retired employees, limited to those
receiving benefits or retired as of April 1, 1993. Total Company contributions charged to employee benefit expenses for the Postretirement Plan
were $38 and $61 for the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009, respectively. Postretirement Plan expense for the 39 weeks
ended January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009 was $113 and $183, respectively.

(15) Gift Cards

The Company sells gift cards which can be used in its stores or on Barnes & Noble.com. The Company does not charge administrative or
dormancy fees on gift cards, and gift cards have no expiration dates. Upon the purchase of a gift card, a liability is established for its cash value.
Revenue associated with gift cards is deferred until redemption of the gift card. Over time, some portion of the gift cards issued is not redeemed.
The Company estimates the portion of the gift card liability for which the likelihood of redemption is remote based upon the Company�s
historical redemption patterns. The Company records this amount in income on a straight-line basis over a 12-month period beginning in the
13th month after the month the gift card was originally sold. If actual redemption patterns vary from the Company�s estimates, actual gift card
breakage may differ from the amounts recorded. The Company also sells online gift certificates for use solely on Barnes & Noble.com, which
are treated the same way as gift cards.

(16) Segment Information

The Company identifies its operating segments based on the way the business is managed (focusing on the financial information distributed) and
the manner in which the chief operating decision maker interacts with other members of management. As a result of this assessment, the
Company has determined that it has two operating segments: B&N Retail and B&N College.

B&N Retail

This group includes 723 bookstores as of January 30, 2010, primarily under the Barnes & Noble Booksellers trade name. The 723 Barnes &
Noble stores generally offer a comprehensive title base, a café, a children�s section, a music department, a magazine section and a calendar of
ongoing events, including author appearances and children�s activities. In addition, this segment includes Barnes & Noble.com (an online retailer
of eBooks, books, music, DVDs/videos and other items), the Company�s publishing operation, Sterling Publishing, and other internet-based
operations.
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B&N College

This group includes 639 stores as of January 30, 2010, that are primarily school-owned stores operated under contracts by B&N College. The
639 B&N College stores generally sell textbooks and course-related materials, emblematic apparel and gifts, trade books, school and dorm
supplies, and convenience and café items.

Summarized financial information concerning the Company�s reportable segments is presented below:

Sales

13 Weeks Ended 39 Weeks Ended
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
B&N Retail Segment $ 1,608,587 $ 1,631,616 $ 3,859,909 $ 3,965,922
B&N College Segment(a) 565,955 �  631,209 �  

Total $ 2,174,542 $ 1,631,616 $ 4,491,118 $ 3,965,922

Depreciation and Amortization

13 Weeks Ended 39 Weeks Ended
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
B&N Retail Segment $ 46,441 $ 45,546 $ 136,590 $ 132,244
B&N College Segment(a) 10,627 �  14,501 �  

Total $ 57,068 $ 45,546 $ 151,091 $ 132,244

Operating Profit

13 Weeks Ended 39 Weeks Ended
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
B&N Retail Segment $ 108,172 $ 140,951 $ 106,579 $ 145,075

B&N College Segment(a) 38,589 �  28,426 �  
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Total $ 146,761 $ 140,951 $ 135,005 $ 145,075

Capital Expenditures

13 Weeks Ended 39 Weeks Ended
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
B&N Retail Segment $ 24,398 $ 35,772 $ 70,258 $ 153,874
B&N College Segment(a) 5,604 �  7,134 �  

Total $ 30,002 $ 35,772 $ 77,392 $ 153,874

Total Assets

January 30,
2010

January 31,
2009

B&N Retail Segment $ 2,561,986 $ 2,877,864
B&N College Segment $ 1,324,255 �  

Total $ 3,886,241 $ 2,877,864

(a) Includes only the financial information of B&N College since the date of the Acquisition on September 30, 2009.
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A reconciliation of operating profit from reportable segments to income from continuing operations before taxes in the consolidated financial
statements is as follows:

13 Weeks Ended 39 Weeks Ended
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
Reportable segments operating profit $ 146,761 $ 140,951 $ 135,005 $ 145,075
Interest, net 13,849 751 18,097 3,149

Consolidated income from continuing operations before taxes $ 132,912 $ 140,200 $ 116,908 $ 141,926

(17) Shareholders� Equity

On November 17, 2009, the Board of Directors of the Company declared a dividend, payable to stockholders of record on November 27, 2009 of
one right (a Right) per each share of outstanding Common Stock of the Company, par value $0.001 per share (Common Stock), to purchase
1/1000th of a share of Series I Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share, of the Company (the Preferred Stock), at a price of $100.00 per share
(such amount, as may be adjusted from time to time as provided in the Rights Agreement described below, the Purchase Price). In connection
therewith, on November 17, 2009, the Company entered into a Rights Agreement, dated November 17, 2009 (as the same may be amended from
time to time, the Rights Agreement) with Mellon Investor Services LLC, as Rights Agent. The Rights will be exercisable upon the earlier of
(i) such date the Company learns that a person or group, without Board approval, acquires or obtains the right to acquire beneficial ownership of
20% or more of Barnes & Noble�s outstanding common stock or a person or group that already beneficially owns 20% or more of Barnes &
Noble�s outstanding common stock at the time the Rights Agreement was entered into, without Board approval, acquires any additional shares
(other than pursuant to the Company�s compensation or benefit plans) (any person or group specified in this sentence, an Acquiring Person) and
(ii) such date a person or group announces an intention to commence or following the commencement of (as designated by the Board) a tender
or exchange offer which could result in the beneficial ownership of 20% or more of Barnes & Noble�s outstanding common stock. The Rights
will expire on November 17, 2012, unless earlier redeemed or canceled by the Company. If a person or group becomes an Acquiring Person,
each Rights holder (other than the Acquiring Person) will be entitled to receive, upon exercise of the Right and payment of the Purchase Price,
that number of 1/1000ths of a share of Preferred Stock equal to the number of shares of Common Stock which at the time of the applicable
triggering transaction would have a market value of twice the Purchase Price. In the event the Company is acquired in a merger or other business
combination by an Acquiring Person, or 50% or more of the Company�s assets are sold to an Acquiring Person, each Right will entitle its holder
(other than an Acquiring Person) to purchase common shares in the surviving entity at 50% of the market price. The Company intends to submit
the Rights Agreement for stockholder ratification within 12 months of its adoption.
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(18) Legal Proceedings

The Company is involved in a variety of claims, suits, investigations and proceedings that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of its
business, including actions with respect to contracts, intellectual property, taxation, employment, benefits, securities, personal injuries and other
matters. The results of these proceedings in the ordinary course of business are not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company�s
consolidated financial position or results of operations.

The following is a discussion of the material legal matters involving the Company.

In re Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation

The class action lawsuit In re Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
New York in April 2002 (the Action) named over 1,000 individuals and 300 corporations, including Fatbrain.com, LLC, a former subsidiary of
Barnes & Noble.com (Fatbrain), and its former officers and directors. The amended complaints in the Action all allege that the initial public
offering registration statements filed by the defendant issuers with the SEC, including the one filed by Fatbrain, were false and misleading
because they failed to disclose that the defendant underwriters were receiving excess compensation in the form of profit sharing with certain of
its customers and that some of those customers agreed to buy additional shares of the defendant issuers� common stock in the after market at
increasing prices. The amended complaints also allege that the foregoing constitute violations of: (i) Section 11 of the Securities Act, by the
defendant issuers, the directors and officers signing the related registration statements, and the related underwriters; (ii) Rule 10b-5 promulgated
under the Exchange Act, by the same parties; and (iii) the control person provisions of the Securities Act and Exchange Act by certain directors
and officers of the defendant issuers. A motion to dismiss by the defendant issuers, including Fatbrain, was denied.

After extensive negotiations among representatives of plaintiffs and defendants, the parties entered into a memorandum of understanding
(MOU), outlining a proposed settlement resolving the claims in the Action between plaintiffs and the defendant issuers. Subsequently a
settlement agreement was executed between the defendants and plaintiffs in the Action, the terms of which are consistent with the MOU. The
settlement agreement was submitted to the court for approval and on February 15, 2005, the judge granted preliminary approval of the
settlement.

On December 5, 2006, the federal appeals court for the Second Circuit issued a decision reversing the District Court�s class certification decision
in six focus cases. In light of that decision, the District Court stayed all proceedings, including consideration of the settlement. Plaintiffs then
filed, in January 2007, a Petition for Rehearing En Banc before the Second Circuit, which was denied in April 2007. On May 30, 2007, plaintiffs
moved, before the District Court, to certify a new class. On June 25, 2007, the District Court entered an order terminating the settlement
agreement. On October 2, 2008, plaintiffs agreed to withdraw the class certification motion. On October 10, 2008, the District Court signed an
order granting the request.
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A settlement agreement in principle, subject to court approval, was negotiated among counsel for all of the issuers, plaintiffs, insurers and
underwriters and executed by the Company. Final court approval of the settlement was granted on October 5, 2009. The District Court has
finished entering the judgments approving the settlement in all of the IPO cases, with the last judgment entered on January 22, 2010. Pursuant to
the settlement, no settlement payment will be made by the Company. Since that time, various notices of appeal have been filed by certain
objectors on an interlocutory basis. Should any of these appeals be successful and the approval of the settlement overturned, the Company
intends to vigorously defend this lawsuit.

Hostetter v. Barnes & Noble Booksellers, Inc. et al.

On December 4, 2008, a purported class action complaint was filed against Barnes & Noble Booksellers, Inc. in the Superior Court for the State
of California making the following allegations against defendants with respect to hourly managers and/or assistant managers at Barnes & Noble
stores located in the State of California: (1) failure to pay wages and overtime; (2) failure to provide meal and/or rest breaks; (3) waiting time
penalties; and (4) unfair competition. The complaint contains no allegations concerning the number of any such alleged violations or the amount
of recovery sought on behalf the purported class. On March 4, 2009, Barnes & Noble Booksellers filed an answer denying all claims. On
March 5, 2009, Barnes & Noble Booksellers removed this matter to federal court. Discovery concerning purported class member wages, hours
worked, and other matters has commenced. The plaintiff moved for class certification on October 19, 2009. On January 25, 2010, the Court
denied certification in its entirety, leaving only Hostetter�s individual claim. On February 3, 2010, the plaintiff filed a petition under Federal Rule
of Civil Procedure 23(f) with the Ninth Circuit seeking permission to file an interlocutory appeal. The Company opposed this petition on
February 16, 2010. The Ninth Circuit has not yet ruled.

Minor v. Barnes & Noble Booksellers, Inc. et al.

On May 1, 2009, a purported class action complaint was filed against Barnes & Noble Booksellers, Inc. in the Superior Court for the State of
California alleging wage payments by instruments in a form that did not comply with the requirements of the California Labor Code, allegedly
resulting in impermissible wage payment reductions and calling for imposition of statutory penalties. The complaint also alleges a violation of
the California Labor Code�s Private Attorneys General Act and seeks restitution of such allegedly unpaid wages under California�s unfair
competition law, and an injunction compelling compliance with the California Labor Code. The complaint alleges two subclasses of 500 and 200
employees, respectively (there may be overlap among the subclasses), but contains no allegations concerning the number of alleged violations or
the amount of recovery sought on behalf of the purported class. On June 3, 2009, Barnes & Noble Booksellers filed an answer denying all
claims. Discovery concerning purported class member payroll checks and related information is ongoing.
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In re Barnes & Noble Stockholder Derivative Ligitation (Consolidated Cases Formerly Captioned Separately as: Louisiana Municipal Police
Employees Employee Retirement System v. Riggio et al.; Southeastern Pennsylvania Transportation Authority v. Riggio et al.; City of Ann
Arbor Employees� Retirement System v. Riggio et al.; Louise Schuman v. Riggio et al.; Virgin Islands Government Employees� Retirement
System v. Riggio et al.; Electrical Workers Pension Fund, Local 103, I.B.E.W. v. Riggio et al.)

Between August 17, 2009 and August 31, 2009, five putative shareholder derivative complaints were filed in Delaware Chancery Court against
the Company�s directors. The complaints generally allege breach of fiduciary duty, waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment in connection
with the Company�s entry into a definitive agreement to purchase Barnes & Noble College Booksellers, which was announced on August 10,
2009 (the Transaction). The complaints generally seek damages in favor of the Company in an unspecified amount; costs, fees and interest;
disgorgement; restitution; and equitable relief, including injunctive relief. On September 1, 2009, the Delaware Chancery Court issued an Order
of Consolidation consolidating the five lawsuits (the Consolidated Cases) and directing plaintiffs to file a consolidated amended complaint. In a
related development, on August 27, 2009, the Company received a demand pursuant to Delaware General Corporation Law, Section 220, on
behalf of the Electrical Workers Pension Fund, Local 103, I.B.E.W., a shareholder, seeking to inspect certain books and records related to the
Transaction. The Company provided this shareholder with certain documents, on a confidential basis, in response to its demand. On
September 18, 2009, this shareholder filed a shareholder derivative complaint in Delaware Chancery Court against certain of the Company�s
directors alleging breach of fiduciary duty and unjust enrichment and seeking to enjoin the consummation of the Transaction. At that time, this
shareholder also filed a motion for expedited proceedings. At a hearing held on September 21, 2009, the court denied plaintiff�s request for
expedited proceedings. On October 6, 2009, the plaintiffs in the Consolidated Cases filed a motion seeking to consolidate the later-filed sixth
case with the Consolidated Cases. Also on October 6, 2009, the plaintiff in the sixth case filed a separate motion seeking to consolidate its case
with the Consolidated Cases and appoint it as co-lead plaintiff and to appoint its counsel as co-lead counsel. On November 3, 2009, a
Consolidated Complaint was filed in the Consolidated Cases. The Company and defendants sought an extension of their time to answer or
otherwise respond to the complaints while the plaintiffs� respective consolidation motions were pending. On December 11, 2009, the court
entered an order consolidating all actions and appointing co-lead counsel for plaintiffs. Plaintiffs designated the Consolidated Complaint filed on
November 3, 2009 to be the operative Complaint. The Company and defendants filed motions to dismiss the Consolidated Complaint on
January 12, 2010. On January 29, 2010, plaintiffs informed defendants that they would amend their Complaint rather than respond to defendants�
motions to dismiss.

Spring Design Inc. v. Barnesandnoble.com LLC

On November 2, 2009, plaintiff filed a complaint against Barnes & Noble.com in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
California alleging breach of nondisclosure agreement, misappropriation of trade secrets and unfair competition in connection with Barnes &
Noble.com�s development of its nook� eReader. On November 11, 2009, plaintiff filed its first amended complaint and a motion for a
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preliminary injunction seeking to enjoin shipments of nook�. A hearing on plaintiff�s preliminary injunction motion took place on November 30,
2009. On December 1, 2009, the Court issued an order denying plaintiff�s motion for a preliminary injunction, in which it stated, among other
things, that plaintiff had not presented sufficient evidence to show that it is likely to succeed on the merits. On January 12, 2010, plaintiff filed a
second amended complaint, and on January 26, 2010, Barnes & Noble.com moved to dismiss certain claims alleged in the second amended
complaint. A hearing on Barnes & Noble.com�s motion to dismiss has been set for April 12, 2010.

(19) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2009, the FASB issued ASC 105-10, The FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles, a Replacement of FASB Statement No. 162. The ASC identifies itself as the source of authoritative accounting principles
recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities in the preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States (GAAP). Rules and interpretive releases of the SEC under authority of federal securities laws
are also sources of authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants. This statement is effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual
periods ending after September 15, 2009. The ASC does not change U.S. GAAP, but is intended to simplify user access to all authoritative U.S.
GAAP by providing all the authoritative literature related to a particular topic in one place. The FASB will not issue new standards in the form
of Statements, FASB Staff Positions or Emerging Issues Task Force Abstracts. Instead, it will issue Accounting Standards Updates (ASUs). The
FASB will not consider ASUs as authoritative in their own right. ASUs will only serve to update the ASC, provide background information
regarding the guidance, and provide the basis for conclusions on the change(s) in the ASC. Effective September 15, 2009, all public filings of
the Company will reference the ASC as the sole source of authoritative literature.

In April 2009, the FASB issued ASC 855-10-05, Subsequent Events (ASC 855-10-05), which provides guidance to establish general standards of
accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be
issued. Under ASC 855-10-05 entities are required to disclose the date through which subsequent events were evaluated, as well as the rationale
for why that date was selected. ASC 855-10-05 is effective for interim and annual periods ending after June 15, 2009. The Company adopted
ASC 855-10-05 at May 3, 2009 and the adoption had no impact on the Company�s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In April 2009, the FASB issued ASC 825-10, Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments (ASC 825-10). ASC
825-10 amends ASC 825-10, Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instruments, and requires disclosures about fair value of financial
instruments for interim reporting periods of publicly traded companies as well as in annual financial statements. ASC 825-10 also amends ASC
270-10, Interim Financial Reporting, and requires those disclosures in summarized financial information at interim reporting periods. ASC
825-10 is effective for interim reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009. The Company adopted ASC 825-10 at May 3, 2009. The carrying
amounts of Cash and Cash Equivalents, Receivables and Accounts Payable approximate fair value due to the short-term maturities of these
financial instruments. The Company believes that its Credit Facility (see Note 1) approximates fair value since interest
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rates are adjusted to reflect current rates. The Company believes that the terms and conditions of the Seller Notes are consistent with comparable
market debt issues.

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-13, Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements�a Consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues
Task Force (ASU 2009-13). ASU 2009-13 updates the existing multiple-element revenue arrangements guidance currently included under ASC
605-25, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables. The revised guidance addresses how to separate deliverables, and how to measure
and allocate arrangement consideration. Vendors often provide multiple products or services to customers. Because products and services are
often provided at different points in time or over different time periods within the same contractual arrangement, this guidance enables vendors
to account for products or services separately rather than as a combined unit.

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-14, Software (ASC 985) � Certain Revenue Arrangements That Include Software Elements
(ASU 2009-14). ASU 2009-14 amends the scope of software revenue guidance in ASC 985-605, Software-Revenue Recognition, affecting
vendors that sell or lease tangible products in an arrangement that contains software that is more than incidental to the tangible product as a
whole. ASU No. 2009-14 does not affect software revenue arrangements that do not include tangible products. They also do not affect software
revenue arrangements that include services if the software is essential to the functionality of those services.

ASU 2009-13 and ASU 2009-14 are effective prospectively for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years
beginning on or after June 15, 2010, and must be adopted in the same period using the same transition method. If adoption is elected in a period
other than the beginning of a fiscal year, the amendments in these standards must be applied retrospectively to the beginning of the fiscal year.
Full retrospective application of these amendments to prior fiscal years is optional. Early adoption of these standards may be elected. The
Company has early adopted ASU 2009-13 and ASU 2009-14 at November 1, 2009. See Note 6 for the Company�s revenue recognition policy.
Retrospective application does not apply to the Company because the initial sales of products that contain multiple elements were sold in the
current fiscal quarter.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 820) - Improving Disclosures about
Fair Value Measurements (ASU 2010-06). ASU 2010-06 requires new disclosures regarding transfers in and out of the Level 1 and Level 2 fair
value measurements and activity within Level 3 fair value measurements and clarifies existing disclosures of inputs and valuation techniques for
Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements. ASU 2010-06 also includes conforming amendments to employers� disclosures about
postretirement benefit plan assets. The new disclosures and clarifications of existing disclosures are effective for interim and annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the disclosure of activity within Level 3 fair value measurements, which is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010 and for interim periods within those years. The Company is currently evaluating the effect, if
any, that the adoption of ASU 2010-06 will have on its financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
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(20) Subsequent Events

On February 17, 2010, the Company entered into an amendment (the Amendment) to the Rights Agreement described in Note 17. The
Amendment was undertaken to eliminate a possible ambiguity in the Rights Agreement. The Amendment modifies the definition of �Acquiring
Person� in the Rights Agreement to impose revised restrictions on Specified Persons who receive common stock of the Company from any
person who, alone or together with all its affiliates and associates, beneficially owned more than 20% of the Company�s common stock as of
November 17, 2009 (an Excluded Person). The revised restrictions vary depending on the amount of common stock transferred by the Excluded
Person to a Specified Person, but they generally require the recipient Specified Person�s ownership of common stock to be limited to the greater
of 20% of outstanding shares or the number of shares received from the Excluded Person, and include disposition and voting requirements in
order to effectuate this ownership cap. The �Specified Persons� subject to the revised restrictions include the immediate family members and
certain related trusts, executors and trustees of an Excluded Person.

On February 23, 2010, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized a quarterly cash dividend of $0.25 per share for
stockholders of record at the close of business on March 10, 2010, payable on March 31, 2010.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors

Barnes & Noble, Inc.

New York, New York

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated balance sheets of Barnes & Noble, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of January 30, 2010, May 2, 2009 and
January 31, 2009, and the related consolidated statements of operations for the 13 week and 39 week periods ended January 30, 2010 and
January 31, 2009, changes in shareholders� equity for the 39 week period ended January 30, 2010, and cash flows for the 39 week periods ended
January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009 included in the accompanying Securities and Exchange Commission Form 10-Q for the period ended
January 30, 2010. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company�s management.

We conducted our reviews in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). A review of
interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and
accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do
not express such an opinion.

Based on our reviews, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the condensed consolidated financial statements
referred to above for them to be in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP
BDO Seidman, LLP
New York, New York
March 11, 2010
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Item 2: Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Liquidity and Capital Resources

The primary sources of the Company�s cash are net cash flows from operating activities, funds available under its senior credit facility and
short-term vendor financing.

The Company�s cash and cash equivalents were $40.2 million as of January 30, 2010, compared with $281.6 million as of January 31, 2009.

Merchandise inventories increased $314.9 million, or 26.2%, to $1.518 billion as of January 30, 2010, compared with $1.203 billion as of
January 31, 2009. Excluding B&N College inventories of $395.5 million, merchandise inventories decreased $80.6 million, or 6.7% compared
to the same period one year ago.

The Company�s investing activities consist principally of capital expenditures for the Company�s website and digital initiatives, new store
construction, the maintenance of existing stores and system enhancements for the B&N Retail and B&N College stores. Capital expenditures
totaled $77.4 million and $153.9 million during the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009, respectively. This decrease was
primarily the result of eight new Barnes & Noble store openings during the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 compared to 24 openings during
the 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009. Furthermore, during the 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009, the Company purchased its distribution facility
and related equipment located in South Brunswick, New Jersey for approximately $21.0 million.

On September 30, 2009, the Company completed the acquisition (the Acquisition) of B&N College from Leonard Riggio and Louise Riggio (the
Sellers) pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of August 7, 2009 among the Company and the Sellers (the Purchase Agreement). Mr.
Riggio is the Chairman of the Company�s Board of Directors and a significant stockholder.

The purchase price paid to the Sellers under the Purchase Agreement was $596 million, consisting of $346 million in cash and $250 million in
aggregate principal amount of the Seller Notes described in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained herein. However,
pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement, the cash paid to the Sellers was reduced by approximately $82 million in cash bonuses paid by
B&N College to 192 members of its management team and employees, not including Leonard Riggio.

On September 30, 2009, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the Credit Agreement) with Bank of America, N.A., as administrative
agent, collateral agent and swing line lender, and other lenders, under which the lenders committed to provide up to $1.0 billion in
commitments under a four-year asset-backed revolving credit facility (the Credit Facility) and which is secured by eligible inventory and
accounts receivable and related assets. Borrowings under the Credit Agreement are limited to a specified percentage of eligible inventories and
accounts receivable and accrue interest, at the election of the Company, at Base Rate or LIBO Rate, plus, in each case, an Applicable Margin
(each term as defined in the Credit Agreement). In addition, the Company has the option to request the increase in commitments under the Credit
Agreement by up to $300 million subject to certain restrictions.

The Credit Agreement includes a fixed charge coverage ratio requirement which would be triggered if Availability (as defined in the Credit
Agreement) were to fall below (a) the greater of (i) 15% of the Loan
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Cap (as defined in the Credit Agreement) or (ii) $110 million. In addition, the Credit Facility contains covenants that limit, among other things,
the Company�s ability to incur indebtedness, create liens, make investments, make restricted payments, merge or acquire assets, and contains
default provisions that are typical for this type of financing, among other things.

The Credit Facility replaces the Company�s prior $850 million credit agreement which had a maturity date of July 31, 2011, as well as B&N
College�s $400 million credit agreement which had a maturity date of November 13, 2011. The remaining unamortized deferred costs of $0.8
million relating to the Company�s prior credit facility was deferred and will be amortized over the four-year term of the Credit Facility.

The Company had no outstanding debt under its Credit Facility as of January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009.

Based upon the Company�s current operating levels, management believes cash and cash equivalents on hand, net cash flows from operating
activities and the capacity under the Credit Facility will be sufficient to meet the Company�s normal working capital and debt service
requirements for at least the next twelve months.

The Company paid quarterly cash dividends of $0.25 per share on June 30, 2009 to stockholders of record at the close of business on June 9,
2009, on September 30, 2009 to stockholders of record at the close of business on September 9, 2009, and on December 31, 2009 to
stockholders of record at the close of business on December 10, 2009. On February 23, 2010, the Company announced that its Board of
Directors had authorized a quarterly cash dividend of $0.25 per share for stockholders of record at the close of business on March 10, 2010,
payable on March 31, 2010.

Seasonality

The B&N Retail business, like that of many retailers, is seasonal, with the major portion of sales and operating profit realized during the third
fiscal quarter, which includes the holiday selling season. The B&N College business is also seasonal, with the major portion of sales and
operating profit realized during the second and third fiscal quarters, when college students generally purchase textbooks for the upcoming
semesters.
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Results of Operations

13 and 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 compared with the 13 and 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009

Sales

The following table summarizes the Company�s sales for the 13 and 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009:

13 weeks ended 39 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands
January 30,

2010
%

Total
January 31,

2009
%

Total
January 30,

2010
%

Total
January 31,

2009
%

Total
B&N Retail Segment
B&N Stores $ 1,370,709 63.0% $ 1,439,040 88.2% $ 3,352,512 74.6% $ 3,500,353 88.3% 
B&N.com 209,526 9.6% 158,216 9.7% 432,029 9.6% 368,883 9.3% 
B. Dalton Stores 15,830 0.7% 21,729 1.3% 36,349 0.8% 51,433 1.3% 
Other 12,522 0.6% 12,631 0.8% 39,019 0.9% 45,253 1.1% 

B&N Retail Segment Total $ 1,608,587 74.0% $ 1,631,616 100.0% $ 3,859,909 85.9% $ 3,965,922 100.0% 

B&N College Segment 565,955 26.0% �  0.0% 631,209 14.1% �  0.0% 

Total Sales $ 2,174,542 100.0% $ 1,631,616 100.0% $ 4,491,118 100.0% $ 3,965,922 100.0% 

During the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010, the Company�s sales increased $542.9 million, or 33.3%, to $2.17 billion from $1.63 billion during
the 13 weeks ended January 31, 2009. This increase was primarily attributable to the following:

� Barnes & Noble store sales for the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010 decreased $68.3 million, or 4.7%, to $1.37 billion from $1.44
billion during the same period a year ago, and accounted for 63.0% of total Company sales. The 4.7% decrease in Barnes & Noble
store sales was primarily attributable to a 5.5% decrease in comparable store sales, which decreased sales by $74.6 million, and by
closed stores that decreased sales by $27.9 million, offset by new Barnes & Noble stores that contributed to an increase in sales of
$32.6 million.

� Barnes & Noble.com sales increased $51.3 million, or 32.4%, to $209.5 million during the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010 from
$158.2 million during the 13 weeks ended January 31, 2009. This increase to sales was primarily due to the launch of nook�, the
Company�s eBook reader, which also led to increased traffic to the website as well as increased eBook sales.

� B&N College contributed $566.0 million in sales during the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010. The inclusion of these sales was due
to the Acquisition of B&N College on September 30, 2009. Comparable sales for B&N College decreased 1.3% for the 13 weeks
ended January 30, 2010 and decreased 0.2% for the 5-week �back to school rush� period ended February 6, 2010.

� B. Dalton sales decreased $5.9 million, or 27.1%, to $15.8 million during the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010 from $21.7 million
during the 13 weeks ended January 31, 2009. This decrease was primarily attributable to the closing of 48 stores over the last 12
months.

During the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010, the Company opened three Barnes & Noble stores and closed nine, bringing its total number of
Barnes & Noble stores to 719 with 18.8 million square feet. During the 13 weeks
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ended January 30, 2010, the Company added three B&N College stores, ending the period with 639 B&N College stores. The Company has
been decreasing the number of its smaller format B. Dalton bookstores in response to declining sales attributable primarily to book superstore
competition. During the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010, the Company closed 46 B. Dalton stores, ending the period with four B. Dalton
stores with 0.02 million square feet. The Company has completed its controlled descent in the smaller format stores and has converted the four
remaining B. Dalton stores to Barnes & Noble Bookseller stores effective February 1, 2010. As of January 30, 2010, the Company operated
1,362 stores in the fifty states and the District of Columbia.

During the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010, the Company�s sales increased $525.2 million, or 13.2%, to $4.49 billion from $3.97 billion during
the 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009. This increase was primarily attributable to the following:

� Barnes & Noble store sales for the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 decreased $147.8 million, or 4.2%, to $3.35 billion from $3.50
billion during the same period a year ago, and accounted for 74.6% of total Company sales. This decrease was primarily attributable
to a 5.3% decrease in comparable store sales, which decreased sales by $173.9 million, and by closed stores that decreased sales by
$70.2 million, offset by new Barnes & Noble stores that contributed to an increase in sales of $94.7 million.

� Barnes & Noble.com sales increased $63.1 million, or 17.1%, to $432.0 million during the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 from
$368.9 million during the 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009. This increase to sales was primarily due to the launch of nook�, the
Company�s eBook reader, which also led to increased traffic to the website as well as eBook sales, which commenced with the
acquisition of Fictionwise in March 2009.

� B&N College contributed $631.2 million in sales since the Acquisition on September 30, 2009. Comparable sales for B&N College
decreased 1.2% since the Acquisition and decreased 0.2% for the 5-week �back to school rush� period ended February 6, 2010.

� B. Dalton sales decreased $15.1 million, or 29.3%, to $36.3 million during the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 from $51.4 million
during the 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009. This decrease was primarily attributable to the closing of 48 stores over the last 12
months.

During the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010, the Company opened eight Barnes & Noble stores and closed 15, bringing its total number of
Barnes & Noble stores to 719 with 18.8 million square feet. Since the date of Acquisition, the Company added nine B&N College stores and
closed two, ending the period with 639 B&N College stores. The Company has been decreasing the number of its smaller format B. Dalton
bookstores in response to declining sales attributable primarily to book superstore competition. During the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010, the
Company closed 47 B.Dalton stores, ending the period with four B. Dalton stores with 0.02 million square feet. The Company has completed its
controlled descent in the smaller format stores and has converted the four remaining B. Dalton stores to Barnes & Noble Bookseller stores
effective February 1, 2010. As of January 30, 2010, the Company operated 1,362 stores in the fifty states and the District of Columbia.
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Cost of Sales and Occupancy

13 weeks ended 39 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands
January 30,

2010
% of
Sales

January 31,
2009

% of
Sales

January 30,
2010

% of
Sales

January 31,
2009

% of
Sales

B&N Retail Segment $ 1,109,486 69.0% $ 1,108,899 68.0% $ 2,677,433 69.4% $ 2,732,683 68.9% 
B&N College Segment 449,385 79.4% �  0.0% 499,970 79.2% �  0.0% 

Total Cost of Sales and Occupancy $ 1,558,871 71.7% $ 1,108,899 68.0% $ 3,177,403 70.7% $ 2,732,683 68.9% 

The Company�s cost of sales and occupancy includes costs such as merchandise costs, distribution center costs (including payroll, freight,
supplies, depreciation and other operating expenses), rental expense, common area maintenance and real estate taxes, partially offset by landlord
tenant allowances amortized over the life of the lease.

During the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010, cost of sales and occupancy increased $450.0 million, or 40.6%, to $1.6 billion from $1.1 billion
during the 13 weeks ended January 31, 2009. Cost of sales and occupancy increased as a percentage of sales to 71.7% from 68.0% during the
same period one year ago. B&N Retail Segment cost of sales and occupancy increased as a percentage of sales to 69.0% from 68.0% during the
same period one year ago. This increase was primarily attributable to higher online sales, including nook� and eBook sales, as well as the
deleveraging of fixed occupancy costs on the negative comparable store sales. These increases in cost of sales and occupancy were offset by an
11% reduction in returns to suppliers due to tighter inventory purchasing controls and a 13% reduction in the Company�s distribution center
average cost per unit processed, as well as lower freight costs in general.

During the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010, cost of sales and occupancy increased $444.7 million, or 16.3%, to $3.2 billion from $2.7 billion
during the 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009. Cost of sales and occupancy increased as a percentage of sales to 70.7% from 68.9% during the
same period one year ago. B&N Retail Segment cost of sales and occupancy increased as a percentage of sales to 69.4% from 68.9% during the
39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009, respectively. This increase was primarily attributable to higher online sales, including
nook� and eBook sales, as well as the deleveraging of fixed occupancy costs on the negative comparable store sales. These increases in cost of
sales and occupancy were offset by a 4% reduction in returns to suppliers due to tighter inventory purchasing controls and a 10% reduction in
the Company�s distribution center average cost per unit processed, as well as lower freight costs in general.
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Selling and Administrative Expenses

13 weeks ended 39 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands
January 30,

2010
% of
Sales

January 31,
2009

% of
Sales

January 30,
2010

% of
Sales

January 31,
2009

% of
Sales

B&N Retail Segment $ 344,113 21.4% $ 334,437 20.5% $ 935,967 24.2% $ 947,661 23.9% 
B&N College Segment 67,330 11.9% �  0.0% 88,271 14.0% �  0.0% 

Total Selling and Administrative Expenses $ 411,443 18.9% $ 334,437 20.5% $ 1,024,238 22.8% $ 947,661 23.9% 

Selling and administrative expenses increased $77.0 million, or 23.0%, to $411.4 million during the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010 from
$334.4 million during the 13 weeks ended January 31, 2009. Selling and administrative expenses decreased as a percentage of sales to 18.9%
from 20.5% during the same period one year ago. B&N Retail Segment selling and administrative expenses increased as a percentage of sales to
21.4% from 20.5% during the same period one year ago. This increase was primarily due to an $11.1 million impairment charge related to
property and equipment for certain retail store locations, increased resources into the Company�s digital strategies and the deleveraging of fixed
expenses with the negative comparable store sales.

Selling and administrative expenses increased $76.6 million, or 8.1%, to $1.0 billion during the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 from $947.7
million during the 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009. Selling and administrative expenses decreased as a percentage of sales to 22.8% from
23.9% during the same period one year ago. B&N Retail Segment selling and administrative expenses increased as a percentage of sales to
24.2% from 23.9% during the same period one year ago. This increase was primarily due to $10.4 million of Acquisition-related costs, increased
resources into the Company�s digital strategies and the deleveraging of fixed expenses with the negative comparable store sales offset by a $6.7
million benefit related to an insurance settlement.

Depreciation and Amortization

13 weeks ended 39 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands
January 30,

2010
% of
Sales

January 31,
2009

% of
Sales

January 30,
2010

% of
Sales

January 31,
2009

% of
Sales

B&N Retail Segment $ 46,441 2.9% $ 45,546 2.8% $ 136,590 3.5% $ 132,244 3.3% 
B&N College Segment 10,627 1.9% �  0.0% 14,501 2.3% �  0.0% 

Total Depreciation and Amortization $ 57,068 2.6% $ 45,546 2.8% $ 151,091 3.4% $ 132,244 3.3% 

During the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010, depreciation and amortization increased $11.5 million, or 25.3%, to $57.1 million from $45.5
million during the same period one year ago. During the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010, B&N Retail Segment depreciation and amortization
increased $0.9 million, or 2.0%, to $46.4 million from $45.5 million during the same period one year ago. This increase was primarily due to
additional capital expenditures for existing store maintenance, new store openings and technology investments.

During the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010, depreciation and amortization increased $18.8 million, or 14.25%, to $151.1 million from $132.2
million during the same period last year. During the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010, B&N Retail Segment depreciation and amortization
increased $4.3 million, or 3.3%, to $136.6 million from
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$132.2 million during the same period last year. This increase was primarily due to additional capital expenditures for existing store
maintenance, new store openings and technology investments.

Pre-opening Expenses

13 weeks ended 39 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands
January 30,

2010
% of
Sales

January 31,
2009

% of
Sales

January 30,
2010

% of
Sales

January 31,
2009

% of
Sales

B&N Retail Segment $ 375 0.0% $ 1,783 0.1% $ 3,340 0.1% $ 8,259 0.2% 
B&N College Segment 24 0.0% �  0.0% 41 0.0% �  0.0% 

Total Pre-opening Expenses $ 399 0.0% $ 1,783 0.1% $ 3,381 0.1% $ 8,259 0.2% 

Pre-opening expenses decreased $1.4 million, or 77.6%, to $0.4 million during the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010 from $1.8 million for the
13 weeks ended January 31, 2009. This decrease was primarily the result of the lower volume of Barnes & Noble new store openings.

Pre-opening expenses decreased $4.9 million, or 59.1%, to $3.4 million during the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 from $8.3 million for the
39 weeks ended January 31, 2009. This decrease was primarily the result of the lower volume of Barnes & Noble new store openings.

Operating Profit

13 weeks ended 39 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands
January 30,

2010
% of
Sales

January 31,
2009

% of
Sales

January 30,
2010

% of
Sales

January 31,
2009

% of
Sales

B&N Retail Segment $ 108,172 6.7% $ 140,951 8.6% $ 106,579 2.8% $ 145,075 3.7% 
B&N College Segment 38,589 6.8% �  0.0% 28,426 4.5% �  0.0% 

Total Operating Profit $ 146,761 6.7% $ 140,951 8.6% $ 135,005 3.0% $ 145,075 3.7% 

The Company�s consolidated operating profit increased $5.8 million, or 4.1%, to $146.8 million during the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010
from $141.0 million during the 13 weeks ended January 31, 2009. This increase was due to the matters discussed above.

The Company�s consolidated operating profit decreased $10.1 million, or 6.9%, to $135.0 million during the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010
from $145.1 million during the 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009. This decrease was due to the matters discussed above.
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Interest Expense, Net and Amortization of Deferred Financing Fees

13 weeks ended 39 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
% of

Change
January 30,

2010
January 31,

2009
% of

Change
Interest Expense, Net and Amortization of Deferred Financing Fees $ 13,849 $ 751 1,744.0% $ 18,097 $ 3,149 474.7% 

Net interest expense and amortization of deferred financing fees increased $13.1 million, to $13.8 million during the 13 weeks ended January 30,
2010 from $0.8 million during the 13 weeks ended January 31, 2009. This increase in interest expense was primarily due to the interest expense
related to the Acquisition of B&N College.

Net interest expense and amortization of deferred financing fees increased $14.9 million, to $18.1 million during the 39 weeks ended January 30,
2010 from $3.1 million during the 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009. This increase in interest expense was primarily due to the interest expense
related to the Acquisition of B&N College.

Income Taxes

13 weeks ended 39 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands
January 30,

2010
Effective

Rate
January 31,

2009
Effective

Rate
January 30,

2010
Effective

Rate
January 31,

2009
Effective

Rate
Income Taxes $ 52,523 39.5% $ 55,235 39.4% $ 48,212 41.2% $ 55,965 39.4% 

Income tax expense during the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010 was $52.5 million compared with $55.2 million during the 13 weeks ended
January 31, 2009. The Company�s effective tax rate was 39.5% and 39.4% for the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010 and January 31, 2009,
respectively.

Income tax expense during the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 was $48.2 million compared with $56.0 million during the 39 weeks ended
January 31, 2009. The Company�s effective tax rate was 41.2% for the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010, which included the estimated
non-deductible portion of the Acquisition-related fees. The Company�s effective tax rate was 39.4% for the 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009.

Loss from Discontinued Operations

On February 25, 2009, the Company sold its interest in Calendar Club to Calendar Club and its chief executive officer for $7.0 million, which
was comprised of $1.0 million in cash and $6.0 million in notes. Calendar Club is no longer a subsidiary of the Company and the results of
Calendar Club have been classified as discontinued operations in all periods presented. Accordingly, the Company reported a $4.0 million and a
$7.8 million loss from discontinued operations for the 13 and 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009.

Net Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests decreased to $0.01 million during the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010 from $0.2 million during
the 13 weeks ended January 31, 2009, and relates to the 50% outside interest in Begin Smart LLC.
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Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests during the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 was $0.02 million compared with a loss of $0.03
million during the 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009, and relates to the 50% outside interest in Begin Smart LLC.

Net Income Attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc.

13 weeks ended 39 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands
January 30,

2010
Diluted

EPS
January 31,

2009
Diluted

EPS
January 30,

2010
Diluted

EPS
January 31,

2009
Diluted

EPS
Net Income Attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. $ 80,403 $ 1.38 $ 81,152 $ 1.42 $ 68,714 $ 1.18 $ 78,143 $ 1.35

As a result of the factors discussed above, the Company reported consolidated net income attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. of $80.4 million
or $1.38 per diluted share during the 13 weeks ended January 30, 2010, compared with a consolidated net income attributable to Barnes &
Noble, Inc. of $81.2 million or $1.42 per diluted share during the 13 weeks ended January 31, 2009.

As a result of the factors discussed above, the Company reported consolidated net income attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc. of $68.7 million
or $1.18 per diluted share during the 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010, compared with a consolidated net income attributable to Barnes &
Noble, Inc. of $78.1 million or $1.35 per diluted share during the 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009.

Critical Accounting Policies

SEC Financial Reporting Release No. 60 requests all companies to include a discussion of critical accounting policies or methods used in the
preparation of financial statements. Management of the Company does not believe there is a great likelihood that materially different amounts
would be reported related to the accounting policies described below. However, application of these accounting policies involves the exercise of
judgment and use of assumptions as to future uncertainties and, as a result, actual results could differ from these estimates.

Merchandise Inventories. Merchandise inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined primarily by the retail inventory
method under both the first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis and the last-in, first-out (LIFO) basis. The Company uses the retail inventory method for
98% of the Company�s merchandise inventories. As of January 30, 2010, January 31, 2009 and May 2, 2009, 76%, 100% and 100%,
respectively, of the Company�s inventory on the retail inventory method was valued under the FIFO basis. B&N College�s textbook and trade
book inventories are valued using the LIFO method, where the related reserve was not material to the recorded amount of the Company�s
inventories or results of operations.

Market is determined based on the estimated net realizable value, which is generally the selling price. Reserves for non-returnable inventory are
based on the Company�s history of liquidating non-returnable inventory.

The Company also estimates and accrues shortage for the period between the last physical count of inventory and the balance sheet date.
Shortage rates are estimated and accrued based on historical rates and can be affected by changes in merchandise mix and changes in actual
shortage trends.
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Other Long-Lived Assets. The Company�s other long-lived assets include property and equipment and amortizable intangibles. At January 30,
2010, the Company had $818.0 million of property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, and $269.8 million of amortizable
intangible assets, net of amortization, accounting for approximately 28.0% of the Company�s total assets. The Company reviews its long-lived
assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable in
accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 360-10, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (ASC
360-10). The Company evaluates long-lived assets for impairment at the individual Barnes & Noble store level, except for B&N College
long-lived assets, which are evaluated for impairment at the university contract combined store level, which is the lowest level at which
individual cash flows can be identified. When evaluating long-lived assets for potential impairment, the Company will first compare the carrying
amount of the assets to the individual store�s estimated future undiscounted cash flows. If the estimated future cash flows are less than the
carrying amount of the assets, an impairment loss calculation is prepared. The impairment loss calculation compares the carrying amount of the
assets to the individual store�s fair value based on its estimated discounted future cash flows. If required, an impairment loss is recorded for that
portion of the asset�s carrying value in excess of fair value. Impairment losses included in selling and administrative expenses totaled $11.1
million during the 13 weeks and 39 weeks ended January 30, 2010 and are related to individual store locations. Impairment losses included in
selling and administrative expenses totaled $0.1 million and $11.7 million during the 13 weeks and 39 weeks ended January 31, 2009,
respectively, and are related to individual store locations.

Goodwill and Unamortizable Intangible Assets. At January 30, 2010, the Company had $522.7 million of goodwill and $314.9 million of
unamortizable intangible assets (those with an indefinite useful life), accounting for approximately 21.6% of the Company�s total assets. ASC
350-30, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, requires that goodwill and other unamortizable intangible assets no longer be amortized, but
instead be tested for impairment at least annually or earlier if there are impairment indicators. The Company completed its annual goodwill
impairment test in November 2009 and determined that no impairment charge was necessary. The Company performs a two-step process for
impairment testing of goodwill as required by ASC 350-30. The first step of this test, used to identify potential impairment, compares the fair
value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. The second step (if necessary) measures the amount of the impairment. The Company has
noted no subsequent indicators of impairment. The Company tests unamortizable intangible assets by comparing the fair value and the carrying
value of such assets. The Company also completed its annual impairment tests for its other unamortizable intangible assets by comparing the
estimated fair value to the carrying value of such assets and determined that no impairment was necessary. Changes in market conditions, among
other factors, could have a material impact on these estimates.

Gift Cards. The Company sells gift cards which can be used in its stores or on Barnes & Noble.com. The Company does not charge
administrative or dormancy fees on gift cards, and gift cards have no expiration dates. Upon the purchase of a gift card, a liability is established
for its cash value. Revenue associated with gift cards is deferred until redemption of the gift card. Over time, some portion of the gift cards
issued is not redeemed. The Company estimates the portion of the gift card liability for which the likelihood of redemption is remote based upon
the Company�s historical redemption patterns. The Company records this amount in income on a straight-line basis over a 12-month period
beginning in the 13th month after the month the gift card was originally sold. If actual redemption patterns vary from the Company�s estimates,
actual gift card breakage may differ from the amounts recorded. The Company also sells online gift certificates for use solely on Barnes &
Noble.com, which are treated the same way as gift cards.

Income Taxes. Judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes and related accruals, deferred tax assets and liabilities. In the
ordinary course of business, tax issues arise where the ultimate
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outcome is uncertain. Additionally, the Company�s tax returns are subject to audit by various tax authorities. Consequently, changes in the
Company�s estimates for contingent tax liabilities may materially impact the Company�s results of operations or financial position.

Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q may contain certain forward-looking statements (within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the Securities Act), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act)) and
information relating to the Company that are based on the beliefs of the management of the Company as well as assumptions made by and
information currently available to the management of the Company. When used in this report, the words �anticipate,� �believe,� �estimate,� �expect,�
�intend,� �plan� and similar expressions, as they relate to the Company or the management of the Company, identify forward-looking statements.
Such statements reflect the current views of the Company with respect to future events, the outcome of which is subject to certain risks,
including, among others, the general economic environment and consumer spending patterns, decreased consumer demand for the Company�s
products, low growth or declining sales and net income due to various factors, possible disruptions in the Company�s computer systems,
telephone systems or supply chain, possible risks associated with data privacy, information security and intellectual property, possible work
stoppages or increases in labor costs, possible increases in shipping rates or interruptions in shipping service, effects of competition,
higher-than-anticipated store closing or relocation costs, higher interest rates, the performance of the Company�s online, digital and other
initiatives, the performance and successful integration of acquired businesses, the success of the Company�s strategic investments, unanticipated
increases in merchandise, component or occupancy costs, unanticipated adverse litigation results or effects, the results or effects of any
governmental review of the Company�s stock option practices, product and component shortages, and other factors which may be outside of the
Company�s control, including those factors discussed in detail in Item 1A, �Risk Factors,� in this Form 10-Q and in the Company�s other filings
made hereafter from time to time with the SEC. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions
prove incorrect, actual results or outcomes may vary materially from those described as anticipated, believed, estimated, expected, intended or
planned. Subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or persons acting on its behalf are expressly
qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements in this paragraph. The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise after the date of this Form 10-Q.

Item 3: Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
The Company limits its interest rate risks by investing certain of its excess cash balances in short-term, highly-liquid instruments with an
original maturity of one year or less. The Company does not expect any material losses from its invested cash balances and the Company
believes that its interest rate exposure is modest. As of January 30, 2010, the Company�s cash and cash equivalents totaled approximately $40.2
million.

Additionally, the Company may from time to time borrow money under its Credit Facility at various interest-rate options based on the Base Rate
or the LIBO Rate (each term as defined in the Credit Agreement), depending upon certain financial tests. Accordingly, the Company may be
exposed to interest rate risk on money that it borrows under the Credit Facility. The Company had no outstanding debt as of January 30, 2010
and January 31, 2009.

The Company does not have any material foreign currency exposure, as nearly all of its business is transacted in United States currency.
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Item 4: Controls and Procedures
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company�s management conducted an evaluation (as required under Rules 13a-15(b) and
15d-15(b) under the Exchange Act), under the supervision and with the participation of the principal executive officer and principal financial
officer, of the Company�s �disclosure controls and procedures� (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act).
Based on this evaluation, the principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this
report, the Company�s disclosure controls and procedures are effective. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a control system, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that it will detect or uncover failures within the Company to
disclose material information otherwise required to be set forth in the Company�s periodic reports.

(b) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in the Company�s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act) during the fiscal quarter covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company�s internal control over financial reporting.

In accordance with SEC guidance regarding the reporting of internal control over financial reporting in connection with a material acquisition,
management may omit an assessment of an acquired business� internal control over financial reporting from management�s assessment of internal
control over financial reporting for a period not to exceed one year. Accordingly, the Company will exclude B&N College from the scope of
management�s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over financial reporting as of May 1, 2010.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings
The Company is involved in a variety of claims, suits, investigations and proceedings that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of its
business, including actions with respect to contracts, intellectual property, taxation, employment, benefits, securities, personal injuries and other
matters. The results of these proceedings in the ordinary course of business are not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company�s
consolidated financial position or results of operations.

The following is a discussion of the material legal matters involving the Company.

In re Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation

The class action lawsuit In re Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
New York in April 2002 (the Action) named over 1,000 individuals and 300 corporations, including Fatbrain.com, LLC, a former subsidiary of
Barnes & Noble.com (Fatbrain), and its former officers and directors. The amended complaints in the Action all allege that the initial public
offering registration statements filed by the defendant issuers with the SEC, including the one filed by Fatbrain, were false and misleading
because they failed to disclose that the defendant underwriters were receiving excess compensation in the form of profit sharing with certain of
its customers and that some of those customers agreed to buy additional shares of the defendant issuers� common stock in the after market at
increasing prices. The amended complaints also allege that the foregoing constitute violations of: (i) Section 11 of the Securities Act, by the
defendant issuers, the directors and officers signing the related registration statements, and the related underwriters; (ii) Rule 10b-5 promulgated
under the Exchange Act, by the same parties; and (iii) the control person provisions of the Securities Act and Exchange Act by certain directors
and officers of the defendant issuers. A motion to dismiss by the defendant issuers, including Fatbrain, was denied.

After extensive negotiations among representatives of plaintiffs and defendants, the parties entered into a memorandum of understanding
(MOU), outlining a proposed settlement resolving the claims in the Action between plaintiffs and the defendant issuers. Subsequently a
settlement agreement was executed between the defendants and plaintiffs in the Action, the terms of which are consistent with the MOU. The
settlement agreement was submitted to the court for approval and on February 15, 2005, the judge granted preliminary approval of the
settlement.

On December 5, 2006, the federal appeals court for the Second Circuit issued a decision reversing the District Court�s class certification decision
in six focus cases. In light of that decision, the District Court stayed all proceedings, including consideration of the settlement. Plaintiffs then
filed, in January 2007, a Petition for Rehearing En Banc before the Second Circuit, which was denied in April 2007. On May 30, 2007, plaintiffs
moved, before the District Court, to certify a new class. On June 25, 2007, the District Court entered an order terminating the settlement
agreement. On October 2, 2008, plaintiffs agreed to withdraw the class certification motion. On October 10, 2008, the District Court signed an
order granting the request.

A settlement agreement in principle, subject to court approval, was negotiated among counsel for all of the issuers, plaintiffs, insurers and
underwriters and executed by Barnes & Noble, Inc. (the Company). Final court approval of the settlement was granted on October 5, 2009. The
District Court has finished entering the judgments approving the settlement in all of the IPO cases, with the last judgment entered on January 22,
2010.
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Pursuant to the settlement, no settlement payment will be made by the Company. Since that time, various notices of appeal have been filed by
certain objectors on an interlocutory basis. Should any of these appeals be successful and the approval of the settlement overturned, the
Company intends to vigorously defend this lawsuit.

Hostetter v. Barnes & Noble Booksellers, Inc. et al.

On December 4, 2008, a purported class action complaint was filed against Barnes & Noble Booksellers, Inc. in the Superior Court for the State
of California making the following allegations against defendants with respect to hourly managers and/or assistant managers at Barnes & Noble
stores located in the State of California: (1) failure to pay wages and overtime; (2) failure to provide meal and/or rest breaks; (3) waiting time
penalties; and (4) unfair competition. The complaint contains no allegations concerning the number of any such alleged violations or the amount
of recovery sought on behalf the purported class. On March 4, 2009, Barnes & Noble Booksellers filed an answer denying all claims. On
March 5, 2009, Barnes & Noble Booksellers removed this matter to federal court. Discovery concerning purported class member wages, hours
worked, and other matters has commenced. The plaintiff moved for class certification on October 19, 2009. On January 25, 2010, the Court
denied certification in its entirety, leaving only Hostetter�s individual claim. On February 3, 2010, the plaintiff filed a petition under Federal Rule
of Civil Procedure 23(f) with the Ninth Circuit seeking permission to file an interlocutory appeal. The Company opposed this petition on
February 16, 2010. The Ninth Circuit has not yet ruled.

Minor v. Barnes & Noble Booksellers, Inc. et al.

On May 1, 2009, a purported class action complaint was filed against Barnes & Noble Booksellers, Inc. in the Superior Court for the State of
California alleging wage payments by instruments in a form that did not comply with the requirements of the California Labor Code, allegedly
resulting in impermissible wage payment reductions and calling for imposition of statutory penalties. The complaint also alleges a violation of
the California Labor Code�s Private Attorneys General Act and seeks restitution of such allegedly unpaid wages under California�s unfair
competition law, and an injunction compelling compliance with the California Labor Code. The complaint alleges two subclasses of 500 and 200
employees, respectively (there may be overlap among the subclasses), but contains no allegations concerning the number of alleged violations or
the amount of recovery sought on behalf of the purported class. On June 3, 2009, Barnes & Noble Booksellers filed an answer denying all
claims. Discovery concerning purported class member payroll checks and related information is ongoing.

In re Barnes & Noble Stockholder Derivative Ligitation (Consolidated Cases Formerly Captioned Separately as: Louisiana Municipal Police
Employees Employee Retirement System v. Riggio et al.; Southeastern Pennsylvania Transportation Authority v. Riggio et al.; City of Ann
Arbor Employees� Retirement System v. Riggio et al.; Louise Schuman v. Riggio et al.; Virgin Islands Government Employees� Retirement
System v. Riggio et al.; Electrical Workers Pension Fund, Local 103, I.B.E.W. v. Riggio et al.)

Between August 17, 2009 and August 31, 2009, five putative shareholder derivative complaints were filed in Delaware Chancery Court against
the Company�s directors. The complaints generally allege breach of fiduciary duty, waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment in connection
with the Company�s entry into a definitive agreement to purchase Barnes & Noble College Booksellers, which was announced on August 10,
2009 (the Transaction). The complaints generally seek damages in favor of the Company in an unspecified amount; costs, fees and interest;
disgorgement; restitution; and equitable relief, including injunctive relief. On September 1, 2009, the Delaware Chancery Court issued an Order
of Consolidation consolidating the five lawsuits (the Consolidated Cases) and directing plaintiffs to file a consolidated amended complaint. In a
related development, on August 27, 2009, the Company received a demand pursuant to Delaware General Corporation Law, Section 220, on
behalf of the Electrical Workers Pension Fund, Local 103, I.B.E.W., a shareholder, seeking to inspect certain books and records related to the
Transaction. The Company provided this shareholder with certain documents, on a confidential basis, in response to its demand. On
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September 18, 2009, this shareholder filed a shareholder derivative complaint in Delaware Chancery Court against certain of the Company�s
directors alleging breach of fiduciary duty and unjust enrichment and seeking to enjoin the consummation of the Transaction. At that time, this
shareholder also filed a motion for expedited proceedings. At a hearing held on September 21, 2009, the court denied plaintiff�s request for
expedited proceedings. On October 6, 2009, the plaintiffs in the Consolidated Cases filed a motion seeking to consolidate the later-filed sixth
case with the Consolidated Cases. Also on October 6, 2009, the plaintiff in the sixth case filed a separate motion seeking to consolidate its case
with the Consolidated Cases and appoint it as co-lead plaintiff and to appoint its counsel as co-lead counsel. On November 3, 2009, a
Consolidated Complaint was filed in the Consolidated Cases. The Company and defendants sought an extension of their time to answer or
otherwise respond to the complaints while the plaintiffs� respective consolidation motions were pending. On December 11, 2009, the court
entered an order consolidating all actions and appointing co-lead counsel for plaintiffs. Plaintiffs designated the Consolidated Complaint filed on
November 3, 2009 to be the operative Complaint. The Company and defendants filed motions to dismiss the Consolidated Complaint on
January 12, 2010. On January 29, 2010, plaintiffs informed defendants that they would amend their Complaint rather than respond to defendants�
motions to dismiss.

Spring Design Inc. v. Barnesandnoble.com LLC

On November 2, 2009, plaintiff filed a complaint against Barnes & Noble.com in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
California alleging breach of nondisclosure agreement, misappropriation of trade secrets and unfair competition in connection with Barnes &
Noble.com�s development of its nook� eReader. On November 11, 2009, plaintiff filed its first amended complaint and a motion for a preliminary
injunction seeking to enjoin shipments of nook�. A hearing on plaintiff�s preliminary injunction motion took place on November 30, 2009. On
December 1, 2009, the Court issued an order denying plaintiff�s motion for a preliminary injunction, in which it stated, among other things, that
plaintiff had not presented sufficient evidence to show that it is likely to succeed on the merits. On January 12, 2010, plaintiff filed a second
amended complaint, and on January 26, 2010, Barnes & Noble.com moved to dismiss certain claims alleged in the second amended complaint.
A hearing on Barnes & Noble.com�s motion to dismiss has been set for April 12, 2010.

47

Edgar Filing: BARNES & NOBLE INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 58



Table of Contents

Item 1A. Risk Factors
The Company is replacing the risk factors from its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2009 in their entirety with
the following risk factors. The following risk factors and other information included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q should be carefully
considered. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones faced by the Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not
presently known or that are currently deemed immaterial also may impair the Company�s business operations. If any of the following risks
occur, the Company�s business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

Unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references below to (1) �the Company� refers to Barnes & Noble, Inc. and its
subsidiaries, including Barnes & Noble College Booksellers, LLC, (2) �Barnes & Noble� refers to Barnes & Noble, Inc. and its subsidiaries
excluding Barnes & Noble College Booksellers, LLC, and (3) �B&N College� refers to Barnes & Noble College Booksellers, LLC.

Risks related to all of the Company�s businesses

The Company�s businesses are dependent on the overall economic environment and consumer spending patterns.

The Company�s businesses have been adversely impacted by the economic downturn in the United States over the last two years which, among
other things, has decreased discretionary consumer spending. Barnes & Noble�s sales are primarily dependent upon discretionary consumer
spending, which is affected by the overall economic environment, consumer confidence and other factors beyond its control. In addition,
Barnes & Noble�s sales are dependent in part on the strength of new release products which are controlled by publishers and other suppliers. The
economic downturn over the last two years has led to declines in consumer traffic and spending patterns, adversely impacting Barnes & Noble�s
financial performance. The effect of the economic downturn on other retailers in shopping malls in which Barnes & Noble is located also may
adversely affect Barnes & Noble. For example, if the downturn leads to one or more vacancies in a shopping mall, traffic to its store in the mall
may decrease. B&N College�s sales are also affected by the overall economic environment, although historically the effect has been less
significant than in the Barnes & Noble retail stores. Students also may spend less on textbooks and other general merchandise in a difficult
economic environment. B&N College�s business is also dependent on, among other things, college and university funding, which may be
negatively impacted in an economic downturn. The economic downturn has adversely impacted B&N College�s business during the past fiscal
year. A continuation or further decline of the current economic environment could have a material adverse effect on the Company�s financial
condition and operating results, as well as the Company�s ability to fund its growth or its strategic business initiatives.

Because of the Company�s existing penetration of attractive retail locations and the maturity of the market for traditional retail stores the
Company�s sales or net income may decline unless it successfully implements its business strategies.

The Company�s core business is its operation of Barnes & Noble retail stores across the United States, and it derived well over a majority of its
sales and net income from Barnes & Noble retail stores in its most recent fiscal year. Management generally believes that the Company�s retail
stores are located in attractive geographic markets, and generally does not have a strategy to open retail stores in new geographic markets or to
expand the total number of retail stores, and may close more retail stores than it opens. Management�s strategies are subject

48

Edgar Filing: BARNES & NOBLE INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 59



Table of Contents

to the risks described herein and elsewhere, and may be subject to other risks that have not yet been identified, and management cannot assure
you that its business strategies will be successful.

Increases in the complexity of the Company�s businesses could place a significant strain on its management, operations, performance and
resources.

Increases in the complexity of the Company�s business could place a significant strain on its management, operations, technical performance,
financial resources, and internal financial control and reporting functions, and there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to
manage it effectively. The Company�s current and planned personnel, systems, procedures and controls may not be adequate to support and
effectively manage its future operations, especially as it employs personnel in multiple geographic locations. The Company may not be able to
hire, train, retain, motivate and manage required personnel, which may limit its growth. If any of this were to occur, it could damage the
Company�s reputation, limit growth, negatively affect operating results and harm its business.

The Company faces the risk of disruption of supplier relationships and/or supply chain.

The products that the Company sells originate from a wide variety of domestic and international vendors. During the 52 weeks ended
January 31, 2009, Barnes & Noble�s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 49 percent of the dollar value of merchandise purchased.
During the 52 weeks ended May 2, 2009, B&N College�s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 62 percent of its merchandise
purchased. While the Company believes that its relationships with its suppliers are strong, most vendors may modify the terms of these
relationships due to general economic conditions or otherwise. The Company does not have long-term arrangements with most of its suppliers to
guarantee availability of merchandise, content, components or services, particular payment terms or the extension of credit limits. If the
Company�s current suppliers were to stop selling merchandise, content, components or services to it on acceptable terms, including as a result of
one or more supplier bankruptcies due to poor economic conditions, the Company may be unable to procure the same merchandise, content,
components or services from other suppliers in a timely and efficient manner and on acceptable terms, or at all. Furthermore, the Barnes &
Noble and B&N College businesses are each dependent on the continued supply of trade books, in the case of Barnes & Noble, and textbooks, in
the case of B&N College. The publishing industry generally has suffered due, among other things, to changing consumer preferences away from
the print medium and due to the difficult economic climate. A significant disruption in this industry generally could adversely impact the
Company�s business. A significant unfavorable change in the Company�s relationships with key suppliers could materially adversely affect its
sales and profits. In addition, any significant change in the payment terms that the Company has with its key suppliers could adversely affect its
financial condition and liquidity.

The Company�s businesses rely on certain key personnel.

Management believes that the Company�s continued success will depend to a significant extent upon the efforts and abilities of Leonard Riggio,
Chairman, Stephen Riggio, Chief Executive Officer, Mitchell S. Klipper, Chief Operating Officer, Joseph J. Lombardi, Chief Financial Officer,
William J. Lynch, Jr., President of Barnes & Noble.com, and Max J. Roberts, President of B&N College, as well as certain other key officers of
the Company and its subsidiaries. The loss of the services of these key officers could have a material adverse effect on the Company. The
Company does not maintain �key man� life insurance on any of its officers.
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The Company�s businesses could be adversely impacted if it is unsuccessful in making and integrating acquisitions it has made or may
decide to pursue.

To enhance the Company�s efforts to grow and compete, from time to time it has engaged in acquisitions and entered into joint ventures, and it
may engage in acquisitions or enter into joint ventures in the future. For example, on September 30, 2009, the Company acquired B&N College.
Any future acquisitions are subject to the Company�s ability to identify attractive opportunities and to negotiate favorable terms for them.
Accordingly, the Company cannot assure you that future acquisitions will be completed, or that if completed, they will be successful. These
transactions create risks such as: (1) disruption of the Company�s ongoing business, including loss of management focus on existing businesses;
(2) the dilution of the equity interest of the Company�s stockholders; (3) problems retaining key personnel; (4) increased debt to finance any
transaction and additional operating losses, debt and expenses of the businesses the Company acquires; (5) the difficulty of integrating a new
company�s accounting, financial reporting, management, information, human resource and other administrative systems to permit effective
management, and the lack of control if such integration is delayed or not implemented; (6) the difficulty of implementing at acquired companies
the controls, procedures and policies appropriate for a larger public company; and (7) potential unknown liabilities associated with an acquired
company. In addition, valuations supporting the Company�s acquisitions could change rapidly given the current global economic climate. The
Company could determine that such valuations have experienced impairments or other-than-temporary declines in fair value which could
adversely impact its financial condition.

The Company�s businesses are seasonal.

The Company�s businesses are seasonal. For the Company�s businesses other than B&N College, sales are generally highest in the third fiscal
quarter and lowest in the fourth fiscal quarter. For the 52 weeks ended January 31, 2009, 32% of sales and 98% of operating income of Barnes &
Noble were generated in what is now its third fiscal quarter. Operating results in the Company�s businesses other than B&N College depend
significantly upon the holiday selling season in the third fiscal quarter. The B&N College business is also seasonal, with sales generally highest
in the second and third fiscal quarters, when college students generally purchase textbooks for the upcoming semesters, and lowest in the first
and fourth fiscal quarters. During the 52 weeks ended May 2, 2009, 77% of sales and 170% of operating income of B&N College were
generated in the second and third fiscal quarters combined. Less than satisfactory net sales for any fiscal quarter could have a material adverse
effect on the Company�s financial condition or operating results for the year and may not be sufficient to cover any losses which may be incurred
in the other fiscal quarters of the year.

The Company�s results of operations may fluctuate from quarter to quarter, which could affect the Company�s business, financial
condition and results of operations.

The Company�s results of operations may fluctuate from quarter to quarter depending upon several factors, some of which are beyond its control.
These factors include the timing of new product releases, the timing of store openings or closings, the addition or termination of B&N College
contracts to manage bookstores for colleges and universities, the timing of the start of college and university semesters, shifts in the timing of
certain promotions and the effect of impairments on the Company�s assets. These and other factors could affect the Company�s business, financial
condition and results of operations, and this makes the prediction of the Company�s financial results on a quarterly basis difficult. Also, it is
possible that the Company�s quarterly financial results may be below the expectations of public market analysts and investors.
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The Company may not be able to adequately protect its intellectual property rights or may be accused of infringing upon intellectual property
rights of third parties.

The Company regards its trademarks, service marks, copyrights, patents, trade dress, trade secrets, proprietary technology and similar
intellectual property as important to its success, and it relies on trademark, copyright and patent law, domain name regulations, trade secret
protection and confidentiality or license agreements to protect its proprietary rights. Laws and regulations may not protect its trademarks and
similar proprietary rights. The Company may be unable to prevent third parties from acquiring domain names that are similar to, infringe upon
or diminish the value of its trademarks and other proprietary rights.

The Company may not be able to discover or determine the extent of any unauthorized use of its proprietary rights. The protection of the
Company�s intellectual property may require the expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources. Moreover, the steps it takes to
protect its intellectual property may not adequately protect its rights or prevent third parties from infringing or misappropriating its proprietary
rights. The Company also cannot be certain that others will not independently develop or otherwise acquire equivalent or superior technology or
other intellectual property rights.

Other parties also may claim that the Company infringes their proprietary rights. The Company has been and is currently subject to, and expects
to continue to be subject to, claims and legal proceedings regarding alleged infringement by it of the intellectual property rights of third parties.
Such claims, whether or not meritorious, may result in the expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources, injunctions against the
Company or the payment of damages. The Company may need to obtain licenses from third parties who allege that it has infringed their rights,
but such licenses may not be available on terms acceptable to the Company, or at all. In addition, the Company may not be able to obtain or
utilize on terms that are favorable to it, or at all, licenses or other rights with respect to intellectual property it does not own in providing services
to other businesses and individuals under commercial agreements. These risks have been amplified by the increase in third parties whose
primary business appears to be to assert such claims.

The Company�s digital content offerings, including nook�, depend in part on effective digital rights management technology to control access to
digital content. If the digital rights management technology that it uses is compromised or otherwise malfunctions, the Company could be
subject to claims, and content providers may be unwilling to include their content in its service.

The Company faces data security risks with respect to personal information.

The Company�s business involves the receipt and storage of personal information about customers and employees. The Company�s use of
personal information is regulated at the international, federal and state levels. Privacy and information security laws and regulations change from
time to time, and compliance with them may result in cost increases due to necessary systems changes and the development of new processes. If
the Company fails to comply with these laws and regulations, it could be subjected to legal risk. In addition, even if the Company fully complies
with all laws and regulations and even though the Company has taken significant steps to protect personal information, the Company could
experience a data security breach and its reputation could be damaged, possibly resulting in lost future sales or decreased usage of credit and
debit card products. On August 5, 2008, eleven individuals were charged with, among other things, identity theft. A number of these individuals
subsequently pleaded guilty to various charges. The Company was listed as one of several retailers that were targeted by these hackers. The
Company reviewed this matter and provided information to the authorities in connection with their investigation.
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The concentration of the Company�s capital stock ownership with certain executive officers, directors and their affiliates will limit its
stockholders� ability to influence corporate matters and may involve other risks.

Leonard Riggio, the Company�s Founder and Chairman, and Stephen Riggio, the Company�s Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, are
brothers and together were the beneficial owners of an aggregate of approximately 32.4% of the Company�s outstanding capital stock as of
January 31, 2010, a majority of which was beneficially owned solely by Leonard Riggio. This concentrated control may limit the Company�s
other stockholders� ability to influence corporate matters and, as a result, the Company may take actions with which its other stockholders do not
agree. Leonard Riggio is also the beneficial owner of the notes issued in connection with the acquisition of B&N College and therefore one of
the Company�s largest creditors. In addition, there may be risks related to the relationships Leonard Riggio, Stephen Riggio and other members
of the Riggio family have with the various entities with which the Company has related party transactions.

The Company�s business could be impacted by changes in international, federal, state or local laws, rules or regulations.

Changes in international, federal, state or local laws, rules or regulations, including but not limited to laws, rules or regulations related to
employment, wages, data privacy, information security, intellectual property, taxes, products, product safety, health and safety, and imports and
exports, could increase the Company�s costs of doing business or otherwise impact the Company�s business.

Changes in sales and other tax collection regulations could harm the Company�s business.

Barnes & Noble and B&N College collected sales tax on the majority of the products and services that they sold in their respective prior fiscal
years that were subject to sales tax, and they generally have continued the same policies for sales tax within the current fiscal year. While
management believes that the financial statements included elsewhere herein reflect the best current estimate of any potential additional sales tax
liability based on current discussions with taxing authorities, there can be no assurance that the outcome of any discussions with any taxing
authority will not result in the payment of sales taxes for prior periods or otherwise, or that the amount of any such payments will not be
materially in excess of any liability currently recorded. In the future, the Company�s businesses may be subject to claims for not collecting sales
tax on the products and services it currently sells for which sales tax is not collected.

The Company�s shareholder rights plan, classified board of directors and other anti-takeover defenses could deter acquisition proposals and
make it difficult for a third party to acquire control of the Company. This could have a negative effect on the price of the Company�s
common stock.

The Company has a shareholder rights plan, a classified board of directors and other takeover defenses in its certificate of incorporation and
by-laws. These defenses could discourage potential acquisition proposals and could delay or prevent a change in control of the Company. These
deterrents could adversely affect the price of the Company�s common stock and make it difficult to remove or replace members of the Board of
Directors or management of the Company.

The Company received inquiries by the SEC and the Office of the U.S. Attorney for the Southern District of New York with respect to its
option grant practices.

In July 2006, the SEC commenced an informal inquiry into the Company�s stock option granting practices, and in August 2006, the Office of the
U.S. Attorney for the Southern District of New York also requested
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information on this subject. A Special Committee appointed by the Company�s Board of Directors, consisting of Patricia Higgins, reviewed all of
the stock option grants by the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Barnes & Noble.com, during the period from 1996 through 2006 and
engaged independent outside counsel and an independent forensic auditor to assist in this matter. On April 2, 2007, the Special Committee
presented its findings and recommendations to the Company�s Board of Directors, as reported in the Company�s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on April 4, 2007, which the Company later adopted. Although the Special Committee�s advisors have not had any discussion
with the SEC or the Office of the U.S. Attorney with respect to their inquiries since 2007, the Company does not know what further actions the
SEC or the Office of the U.S. Attorney may take and what, if any, actions may be required by the Company with regard to these two inquiries.

Risks related to the Company�s Barnes & Noble businesses

Intense competition from traditional retail sources, the Internet and suppliers of digital content may adversely affect Barnes & Noble�s
businesses.

The book business is highly competitive in every channel in which Barnes & Noble competes. Barnes & Noble retail stores compete primarily
on the quality of the shopping and store experience and the price and availability of products. The importance of price varies depending on the
competitor, with some of Barnes & Noble�s competitors engaging in significant discounting and other promotional activities. nook� competes
primarily with other eBook readers on functionality, consumer appeal, availability of digital content and price. Barnes & Noble competes with
large bookstores including Borders and Books-A-Million and smaller format bookstores such as Waldenbooks. It faces competition from many
online businesses, notably Amazon.com. Increases in consumer spending via the Internet may significantly affect its ability to generate sales in
Barnes & Noble retail stores. Barnes & Noble also faces competition from mass merchandisers, such as Costco, Target and Wal-Mart, some of
which may have greater financial and other resources and different business strategies than Barnes & Noble does. Barnes & Noble retail stores
also compete with specialty retail stores that offer books in particular subject areas, independent store operators, variety discounters, drug stores,
warehouse clubs, mail-order clubs and other retailers offering books, music, toys, games, gifts and other products in its market segments. The
music and movie businesses are also highly competitive, and Barnes & Noble faces competition from mass merchants, discounters, the Internet
and digital distribution. In addition, Barnes & Noble faces competition from the expanding market for electronic books or �eBooks�, eBook
readers and digital distribution of content. New and enhanced technologies, including new digital technologies and new web services
technologies, may increase Barnes & Noble�s competition. Competition may also intensify as Barnes & Noble�s competitors enter into business
combinations or alliances or established companies in other market segments expand into its market segments. Increased competition may
reduce Barnes & Noble�s sales and profits.

If Barnes & Noble is unable to renew or enter into new leases on favorable terms, or at all, its sales and earnings may decline.

Substantially all of Barnes & Noble�s retail stores are located in leased premises. Barnes & Noble�s profitability depends in part on its ability to
continue to optimize its store lease portfolio as to number of retail stores, store locations and lease terms and conditions. Its ability to do so
depends on, among other things, general economic and business conditions and general real estate development conditions, which are beyond its
control. Barnes & Noble has approximately 400 leases up for renewal by January 31, 2014, with over half of these renewals scheduled for fiscal
year 2012 and fiscal year 2013. If the cost of leasing existing retail stores increases, the Company may not be able to maintain its existing store
locations as leases expire. In addition, Barnes & Noble may not be able to enter into new leases on acceptable terms, or at all, or it may not be
able to locate suitable alternative sites or additional sites for new retail stores in a timely manner. Barnes & Noble�s sales and earnings

53

Edgar Filing: BARNES & NOBLE INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 64



Table of Contents

may decline if it fails to maintain existing store locations, enter into new leases, renew leases or relocate to alternative sites, in each case with
attractive terms.

Barnes & Noble faces various risks as an Internet retailer and as a digital retailer.

Barnes & Noble may require additional capital in the future to sustain or grow Barnes & Noble�s online and digital businesses. Business risks
related to its online and digital businesses include risks associated with the need to keep pace with rapid technological change, risks associated
with the timing of the adoption of new digital products or platforms, Internet security risks, risks of system failure or inadequacy, supply chain
risks, government regulation and legal uncertainties with respect to the Internet and digital content, risks related to data privacy and collection of
sales or other taxes by one or more states or foreign jurisdictions. If any of these risks materializes, it could have an adverse effect on Barnes &
Noble�s business.

Barnes & Noble faces the risk of a shift in consumer spending patterns to Internet retailers and digital content.

As technology evolves and consumers shift spending patterns to digital content, Barnes & Noble has entered parts of the online and digital
markets in which it has limited experience, and may do so again in the future. The offering of digital content may present new and difficult
challenges. Gross margin for digital content and products may be lower than for traditional product lines. The gross margin for Barnes & Noble�s
online sales is generally lower than for sales in its retail stores. Although Barnes & Noble has entered into the online and digital spaces, it may
not be able to compete effectively in those spaces and any investments made in those spaces may not be successful. Barnes & Noble also faces
competition from companies engaged in the business of selling books, music and movies via electronic means, including the downloading of
books, music and movie content. For example, historically Barnes & Noble offered a selection of music products in its retail stores, but has had
to decrease such selection because of the increased competition from the download of digital music. These challenges may negatively affect its
operating results.

Barnes & Noble�s expansion into new products, services and technologies subjects it to additional business, legal, financial and competitive
risks.

Barnes & Noble may have limited or no experience in its newer market segments, and its customers may not adopt its new product or service
offerings, which include digital, web services and electronic devices, including but not limited to its nook� eBook reader, as well as new gift
products, educational toys and games and Barnes & Noble@school products. Some of these offerings may present new and difficult technology
challenges, and Barnes & Noble may be subject to claims if customers of these offerings experience service disruptions or failures or other
quality issues. In addition, Barnes & Noble�s gross profits in its newer activities may be lower than in its traditional activities, and it may not be
successful enough in these newer activities to recoup its investments in them. If any of these were to occur, it could damage the Company�s
reputation, limit its growth and negatively affect its operating results.

Barnes & Noble depends on component and product manufacturing provided by third parties, many of whom are located outside of the U.S.

nook�, the Company�s eBook reader, and other Company products are manufactured by a third-party manufacturer outside the United States and
relies on components provided from a number of different manufacturers both within and outside the United States. Many of these
manufacturers are concentrated in geographic areas outside the United States. While Barnes & Noble�s arrangements with these manufacturers
may lower costs, they also reduce its direct control over production. It is uncertain what effect such diminished
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control will have on the quality or quantity of products or services, or Barnes & Noble�s flexibility to respond to changing conditions. Although
arrangements with such manufacturers may contain provisions for warranty expense reimbursement, if reimbursement from such manufacturers
is unenforceable or insufficient, Barnes & Noble may remain responsible to the consumer for warranty service in the event of product defects.
Any unanticipated product defect or warranty liability, whether pursuant to arrangements with contract manufacturers or otherwise, could
materially adversely affect its reputation, financial condition and operating results. If manufacturing in these locations is disrupted for any
reason, including natural disasters, information technology system failures, military actions or economic, business, labor, environmental, public
health or political issues, Barnes & Noble�s financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected.

Government regulation of the Internet, online commerce and digital content is evolving and unfavorable changes could harm Barnes &
Noble�s business.

Barnes & Noble is subject to general business regulations and laws, as well as regulations and laws specifically governing the Internet, online
commerce and digital content and products. Existing and future laws and regulations may impede the growth of the Internet, digital content
distribution or other online services. These regulations and laws may cover taxation, privacy, data protection, pricing, content, copyrights,
distribution, mobile communications, electronic contracts and other communications, consumer protection, the provision of online payment
services, unencumbered Internet access to Barnes & Noble�s services, the design and operation of websites, and the characteristics and quality of
products and services. Unfavorable regulations and laws could diminish the demand for Barnes & Noble�s products and services and increase its
cost of doing business.

Barnes & Noble relies on third-party digital content and applications, which may not be available to Barnes & Noble on commercially
reasonable terms or at all.

Barnes & Noble contracts with certain third parties to offer their digital content on nook� and through its eBookstore. Its licensing arrangements
with these third parties do not guarantee the continuation or renewal of these arrangements on reasonable terms, if at all. Some third-party
content providers currently or in the future may offer competing products and services, and could take action to make it more difficult or
impossible for Barnes & Noble to license their content in the future. Other content owners, providers or distributors may seek to limit Barnes &
Noble�s access to, or increase the total cost of, such content. If Barnes & Noble is unable to offer a wide variety of content at reasonable prices
with acceptable usage rules, its financial condition and operating results may be materially adversely affected.

Risks related to B&N College

B&N College faces competition in its markets, which could adversely impact B&N College�s sales and profits.

A large number of actual or potential competitors exist for B&N College�s sales. Sales and profits could be adversely impacted if B&N College
experiences increased competition in the markets in which it currently operates or in markets in which it will operate in the future. One of the
primary sources of competition for B&N College is off-campus bookstores. B&N College is also experiencing growing competition from
alternative media and alternative sources of textbooks and course-related materials, such as websites that sell textbooks, eBooks, digital content
and other merchandise directly to students; online resources; publishers selling directly to students; print-on-demand textbooks; and CD-ROMs.
Alternative sources of textbooks and course-related information have the potential to reduce or replace the need for textbooks sold through
college bookstores. A substantial increase in the availability or the acceptance of these alternatives as a source of textbooks and
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course-related information could significantly reduce college students� use of college bookstores or the use of traditional textbooks and thus
adversely impact B&N College�s sales and profits. B&N College is experiencing growing competition from technology-enabled
student-to-student transactions that take place over the Internet. These transactions, whereby a student enters into a transaction directly with
another student for the sale and purchase of a textbook, provide competition by reducing the sale of textbooks through college bookstores and
sales of inventory back to suppliers. A significant increase in the number of these transactions could adversely impact B&N College�s sales and
profits.

B&N College may not be able to successfully enter into new contracts to manage additional college bookstores, which could adversely impact
its ability to grow sales and profits.

An important part of B&N College�s business strategy is to expand sales for its college bookstore operations by being awarded additional
contracts to manage bookstores for colleges and universities. To obtain new contracts, B&N College is primarily dependent on colleges and
universities which currently manage their own college bookstores being willing to outsource the management of these bookstores to a third party
and, to a much lesser extent, on opportunities to become a new provider for a college or university which already outsources its bookstore
operations. The decision to outsource bookstore operations in the first place, or to change providers, is primarily based on internal factors at the
colleges and universities, such as funding, current service levels and employee matters, all of which are beyond B&N College�s control. B&N
College�s industry is competitive and it may not be successful in winning such competition.
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B&N College contracts for existing or additional college bookstores may not be profitable.

The anticipated strategic benefits of new and additional college and university bookstores may not be realized or may not be realized within the
time frames contemplated by management. In particular, contracts for additional managed stores may involve a number of special risks,
including adverse short-term effects on its operating results, diversion of management�s attention and other resources, standardization of
accounting systems, dependence on retaining, hiring and training key personnel, unanticipated problems or legal liabilities, and actions of its
competitors and customers. Because the terms of any contract are generally fixed for the initial term of the contract and involve judgments and
estimates which may not be accurate, including for reasons outside of its control, B&N College has contracts which are not profitable, and may
have such contracts in the future. Even if B&N College has the right to terminate a contract, it may be reluctant to do so even when a contract is
unprofitable due, among other factors, to the potential effect on B&N College�s reputation. Accordingly, the Company�s operating results may be
negatively impacted.

B&N College may not be able to successfully retain or renew its managed bookstore contracts on profitable terms, which could adversely
impact B&N College�s profit margins.

As B&N College expands its operations, it will be competing for the retention of existing store contracts and renewal of those contracts as they
expire. B&N College�s contracts are typically for three to five years, although some tenures are as long as ten to fifteen years. Many contracts
have a 90 to 120 day cancellation right by the college or university, without penalty. B&N College may not be successful in retaining its current
contracts, renewing its current contracts, or renewing its current contracts on terms that provide it the opportunity to improve or maintain the
profitability of managing the store. If B&N College is unable to successfully retain or renew its contracts on profitable terms, or at all, its profit
margins could be adversely impacted.

B&N College�s business may be impacted by funding levels at colleges and universities.

Funding of colleges and universities may be negatively impacted by a number of factors, including economic downturns, changes in government
funding, shifting priorities and decreases in college and university enrollments. B&N College�s ability to retain, renew or enter into new contracts
to manage college and university bookstores and the sales and profitability of B&N College contract-managed bookstores may be negatively
impacted by a decrease in funding levels at colleges and universities.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Period

Total
Number of

Shares
Purchased (a)

Average
Price Paid
per Share

Total Number
of Shares

Purchased as
Part of

Publicly
Announced

Plans or
Programs

Approximate
Dollar Value of

Shares That May
Yet Be

Purchased Under
the Plans or
Programs

November 1, 2009 � November 30, 2009 1,406 $ 16.87 �  $ 2,470,561
December 1, 2009 � December 30, 2009 �  $ �  �  $ 2,470,561
December 31, 2009 � January 30, 2010 �  $ �  �  $ 2,470,561

Total 1,406 $ 16.87 �  

(a) All of the shares on this table above were originally granted to employees as restricted stock pursuant to the Company�s 2004 Incentive
Plan. The 2004 Incentive Plan provides for the withholding of shares to satisfy tax obligations due upon the vesting of restricted stock, and
pursuant to the 2004 Incentive Plan, the shares reflected above were relinquished by employees in exchange for the Company�s agreement
to pay federal and state withholding obligations resulting from the vesting of the Company�s restricted stock.

On May 15, 2007, the Company announced its Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program for the purchase of up to $400.0
million of the Company�s common stock. The maximum dollar value of common stock that may yet be purchased under this program is
approximately $2.5 million as of January 30, 2010.

Stock repurchases under this program may be made through open market and privately negotiated transactions from time to time and in such
amounts as management deems appropriate. As of January 30, 2010, the Company has repurchased 33,214,789 shares at a cost of approximately
$1,050.8 million. The repurchased shares are held in treasury.
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Item 6. Exhibits

(a) Exhibits filed with this Form 10-Q:

  3.1 Form of Certificate of Designation, dated as of November 17, 2009, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
the Company�s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 18, 2009.

  4.1 Rights Agreement, dated as of November 17, 2009, between Barnes & Noble, Inc. and Mellon Investor Services
LLC, as Rights Agent, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company�s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed November 18, 2009.

  4.2 First Amendment dated as of February 17, 2010, to the Rights Agreement dated as of November 17, 2009,
between Barnes & Noble, Inc. and Mellon Investor Services LLC, as Rights Agent, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Company�s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 17, 2010.

15.11 Letter from BDO Seidman, LLP regarding unaudited interim financial information.

31.11 Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15(d)-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.21 Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15(d)-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.11 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.21 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

1 Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

BARNES & NOBLE, INC.
(Registrant)

By: /S/    JOSEPH J. LOMBARDI        

Joseph J. Lombardi
Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial officer)

By: /S/    ALLEN W. LINDSTROM        

Allen W. Lindstrom
Vice President, Corporate Controller

(principal accounting officer)

March 11, 2010
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EXHIBIT INDEX

  3.1 Form of Certificate of Designation, dated as of November 17, 2009, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company�s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed November 18, 2009.

  4.1 Rights Agreement, dated as of November 17, 2009, between Barnes & Noble, Inc. and Mellon Investor Services LLC, as Rights Agent,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company�s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 18, 2009.

  4.2 First Amendment dated as of February 17, 2010, to the Rights Agreement dated as of November 17, 2009, between Barnes & Noble,
Inc. and Mellon Investor Services LLC, as Rights Agent, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company�s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed February 17, 2010.

15.11 Letter from BDO Seidman, LLP regarding unaudited interim financial information.

31.11 Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15(d)-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.21 Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15(d)-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.11 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.21 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

1 Filed herewith.
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